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INTROGDUCTION

Acquisition ol the 0ld Stone House by the Natlonal Park Serylce
bacause of its architectural merlt was approved by the Congress ol
the United Statea on September 25, 1950 (Publie Law 836, Blst Cong.).
Title was vested to the Unlted States on March 17, 1953.

Althcugh there may still remain & few posaible sources of infora-
maticn congerning the Old Stone House, 1t was deemad adviszble to
prepare this prellminary account based on the original regords searched
up to ths time nf_writing. It seems very likely that further research,
which mipght be e¢arried on over a long perliod of tima, wlll fall to
uncover any significant facts sbout the house. The following account,
based primarlly upon original scurce materizl, including recantly
discovered District of Columbia records never before used, 18 an attempt
to determine and asvaluate the hlstorical significance of thls early
atructure.

By virtue of the fagt that the 0ld Stone House was built in 1764
ard was for many years a witness to lmportant events In the history
of Georgetown and of the National Caplital, it possesses a certaln

inescapable historieal value.l tHowever, tradition has in-

1. Hearings before ths Jubcommittes on Public Lands, House of Represen-
tatives, 8lst Cong. 24 Sess. on H.H. 7722, April 27, 1950, During
these hearings the following statement concerning the Old Stone House
wWwas made by Mr. William W. Wurster, Chairman of the Nationsl Capital
Park and Planning Jommission: ... 1t seems to me that the technieal
fact A8 to whether the I1ittle 0ld Stone house be proven to be a house
pecapdled by Gen. Washinpgton or not 1s not too lmportant. At least,
it has been proven that it locked out on events that happened in those
yezars, which edded such eoleor to that perlad.



timately comnected the structure with Jeorge liashington and Major Charles
Pierre L'Cnfant, the planner of the Nation's Capital. lMore recently,
the house has been aszoclated with that famous end 2lusive strueture of
0l1d Georgetown ~ Juter's Tawern.

In pursuing the study of the 01d Stone House, it seemed imperative
that an effort should be made to resclve by meana of original historical
gources the follewing four questions:

1. Was the 01d 3tone Housa Washington's Headnuarters?
2. Was the 01d Stone House L'lEnfant's Headquarters?
3. VWas the 014 5taone House Suterts Tavern?

s hat was the actual use of the 0ld Stone House?

A study of all available erijginal source material bearing on the
peried when Washlngton could have been associated with the 0ld Stons
Houze haz fajled to uncover any dpcumentary svidence which would prove
that the house was used as his headguarters. It should be noted, how=
evor, that a vast amount of eripinel records, which might have revealed
a definitive answer to ftihis most perplexing gquesticn, is no longer
extant, The available records Ior this early period of history, which
are incomplete and widely scattered, are thus the only records upon
which this documcntary study can be basod. A clozs evaluation of
facts surrounding the traditional stery, howaver, tends to strongly

aubstantiate Lhe lack of evidence f{rom original sources which would

nrove that the house wvas used For .ashington's headquarters,
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In the case of the L'lknfant story, there is proofl that Major
L'Enfant did not use the 0ld Stone House as a surveying headquarters,

Research has alsoc proved that the (ld Stone House was not Suter's
Tavern. This statement is based on documentary evldence from original
records of the actusl period during which Suter's Tavern exlsted,

1Jith respect to the fourth question on the use of the houge, the
examination of original records has revealed that certaln prominent
personages ol early Georgetown were associated with the 0ld Stone
House, The records Cfurther portray the houss as a residence and as a
place of business, which in later ysars seemed to be primarily used
ag a painter's and glazer's shop. Although the information derived
from oripinel sources failed to connect the structure in any way with
Gecrge lWashington, it should be remembered thet the total amount of
original decumentary material bearing on the structure and its asso-
cigtions 1s very much llmited,

Jt would seem that further reszarch at such depositeries as the
Library of Congress, the National Archives, Haryland Hall of liecords,
¥ontgomery County Office Building, Title Insurancs Cempanies, and
other mscellaneous sources might bear little fruit over a long periocd
of time, The full story of the use of the 0ld 3tene House semms doomed
to remaln clouded by the passage of time. However, one amidl fact
from original records added to the infurmatinn thuz far uncovered
might unlock the door to this mystery. Such information may well

exist in certain unknown private collectiens of deocuments, Up to



now, however, it has not been discovered,

Although this study based on original sources has bteen unable to
follow the continucus chain of use of the Old Stons House, it has ac-
complished several important things. It has uncovered evidence which
stronply lndicates the structure was not used by Washingten. It has
provaed that the Old Stone House was not L'Enfant's swveylng head-
quarters, ror Suter's Tavern. Last, but far from least, it has de-
termined through original evidence the original location of Suter's
higtoric "Fountain Inn," the mystery which has baffled local historians
Cor the last century. In addition, locations of other original George-
town structures have been determined during the search, The indication
that iashington did not use the house shonld not obscure the inherent
value of the structure, For the 01ld Stone House remalna & building of

great architectural merit and one which stood witness to important

events in the early history of our Capital City and our Natiom,




CHAPTER I.

O ZASHIP OF THE OLD STONE ROUSE PROPINTY

Prior to its purchase by the Federal Government in 1953, original
lot 3, the Georgetown property on which the 0ld Stone House stands,
was owned by a long succession of private indlviduals, In the orlginal
survey ol Georgetown, which was completed on February 27, 1752, lot 3
wag deseribed as beplnning at the end of cone hundred thirty-four [ee}
nine inches from post Mo. 1. Fronting on Bridge street, the lot
measured 67 feet % inches westerly and 399 [eet to the north.T On
March 2}, 1752, lesa than one month alter ths original survey of the
tovm had been completed, lot 3 was sold by the Commlssioners of
Georgetown to John Clagett for 1 pound 10 shillings.2

Mr. Clagett, the first owner of the property, eventually had to
forfeit lot 3 for failure to improve the ground with a substantial
bullding in accordance with the requirsnents of the Maryland Colonial
Assembly. On June 11, 1762, lot 3 was resold to John Boone for ths

3 Boone also failed Lo fulfill the build-

gum of 1 pound 10 shillings.
ing requirements of improving the lot, and the Ueorgetowumn Commissioners
reallotted it to Christopher Layhman on June 11, 176}, tor the same

prica.h Layhman, likewise, did not improve the property. Upon his

1. Mirmbes of the Uecorgebown Comrdssicners, 1751-1789, Vol. 1, pe 3
(LC).

?, ITbid,, p. 15.

3, Ibid., p, 36,

L. Toid., p. L1.



death, however, the lot came Into the possession of his widow,
Rachael.S At the meeting of town Commissioners on June 11, 1766,
lot 3 was listed as being improved with a substantial stone structure
by Rachasl La:,fhrnan.6 tThus, the date of construction of the 01ld Stone
House may be definitely placed in the year 1766, Heretofore, architects
of the Historie American Zuildings Survey in 193h had estimoted the
date of construction az being between 1754-1767. The zctual year of
construction revealed by the Tecorda of the Georgetown Commissicnors
fits perfectly into the architectural estimates of the 193l survey,
After improving lot 3 with the Stone House, the widow Layhman
married Jacob Furvey. In 1767, the woman who was to become one of
the longest owmners of the 0id 3tone House acquired the property,
when on June %th of that year, Rachael and Jacob Durvey scld lot 3 to
Cassandra Chew in exchange for lot 62 in Georgetoun and the sum of

1730 g:n::uru:!s.."'r

Cassandra Chew, the new owaer, provided that upon her
death 1ot 3 should become the property of her two dauphters lary und
Harriet with the further provrizion that should both daughters dle
without having heirs, the property would be conveved to dobert Peter,
merchant. of Geargetown.a
In Dohert Peter's will, simned lay 10, 1802, provigion was made

that Cassandra Chew's dauphter Harriet wio uas then Harrieb Jruce

would convey all her interzst in lot 3 to her sister Mary Brumley.

U 7ivle scarcl of ortyinal 1ot 3 in Georgchown by aAttorney aclired d.
dnlker, Aug. 15, 1930. <ase No. 169168 Arcords of iteal iotate Witle
Inseronce Lo, , and Gelumbia Title Tnsurunce Co., “Washiagton, L, G,
pe 1.

6, Minutes of Goorpetoum Sommissioners, op, cib., p. 42.

7. Liber #, folio 1322, Fredorick tounty Land Liccords, 17L6-1778 )
Anmapelis, id,

fi, Liber K, folio 1324, rrudericic Vounty Land s.ecords, (M) amanpolis, d.




In retumn, Harriol was to receive lot 29 on High street, upon the death
3

of her mother, Cassandra Chew. Thus, Mary Brumley became the 30le
legal owner of the C1d Stane House property upen the death of her moth-
er in 1808, and continued possession of the property until her own
death in lﬂzﬁ.lﬂ

Tn the will of iary Brumley dated April 5, 1826, the Old Stone
House and lot 3 was divided between her heirs as follows:

% to daughter Harrict Smith

- 40 danghter Cassandra Chew McHenzie
to prend-children Sarah Meria and Apn Suter,
children of Barbara and John Suter, >

Tn 1835, Cassandra licKenzie conveyed her interest in the property to

Sarah Maria Suter.l2

Harriot Smith and Sarsgh Maria (Suter) Bowe
continued ownership of the property until 1874, On September 7, 1875,
1ot 3 was sold to Richard R. Marcey and Calvin Payne as tenants in

13

COMMO T -

On May 1, 1890, the heirs of iichard R. liarcey and Calvin Payne
gold the lot 3 property to Morgan R. and James D, Goddard, brotheors,

as tenants in comnon.lh The Goddard brothers pald the sum of $10,752.00

9. Livber F, folile 329, K1l Book, Hoatgomery County Records, iockville,
HMd,

10. Oase llo. 169168 Heal istate Title Insurance Uo, and iolumhia Title
Insurance Co., Op. cit. flthooph I\iar'j,r 5nith Brumley did not gain
sole lepal possession of the property until 1808, the property wvas
1isted under her name many years earlier in the Georgetown vax as-
sessment ccords,

11. Ihid,

12, Ibid,

13, itecord \Vasc lio, 169168 deal Jstate Title Insurance Lo, and Columbia
Title Insuranco o, , op. cit.

1L, Ibid,




for the property at that tima.15

From thence, the property descended
to TFrederick J. Goddard and his sister, Alice D, Goddard, It was dur-
ing the owmership of Frederick Goddard and his slster Alice that an
historical marker referring to the 01d Stone House as "George Washing-
ton's Headquarters while Surveylng VWashington in 1751" was placed on
the structure. The owners, rrederick Ceddard and hls sister 1ived in
their old family residence at 3077 Dumbarton Avenue, For many years
Mr, and Mrs, James Ii, Davis lived as tepants in the Stone Houge,
where they often graciously received the curious and intersated
visitors.

On April 2, 1540, five years after the death of his sister Allce,
irederick J. Goddard sold the 01d Stone Eouse property to Harris Levy

16

and wife liosa. trom Harris Levy and his wife the property passed

into the hands of Samuel Levy and other heirs, It was purchased from
Samuel Levy and owmers for the sum of $90,000 by the United Stetes

Government on Harchl?, 1953.17

15, Lrief History of Lot 3 by Artemas Earmon, Ceorge Vashington
Bicentennisl ftecords {NA),

16. Hecord Case No. 174779, flecords of Eeal Lstate Title Insurance
Co. and Zolumbia Title Insurance Co., Washington, D. C.

17. Title transfer and acquisition verified by
legal files of National Capital Parks,




CHAPTAE 2.

CONSTRUCTION AWD ARCHY TRCTURAT FLATURES OF
THE LD STONE HOUSE

On ‘Wednesday, June 11, 1766, the minutes of the lsorgetown
Commissioners revealed that original lot Wo. 3 had been improved
with a substantial building by Rachael Layman.® This substantiel
stone structure wWas the same Old Stone House which stands today at
3051 M Strest, #. W., surrounded by the conmereisl stores and siops
of a later and wvastly ddfferent ags.

Believed to be the oldest structure in the Distriect of Columbia,
the 01d Stone House is a flne exampls of pre-Revolutlonary architec-
turs. In 1934, an architectural study of the bullding wes made by
the noted architectural historlan, Thomas T. Waterman. IMr. Waterman
observed that the house was T-shaped in plan, with a small wing in
the rear projecting into the hill. The style wms pansldered to be
Pennsylvanlan. In his aprenitestural deseristicn of the house, Mr.
Waterman noted that mest of the exterior trim was criglnal end that
the @aszt gable was of brick, lald in eamion Lord and dating from about
1800. Varicus changes in the house scem to have been made about that
time. MNr. Waterman found the old sast and frames to be excellent
examples of thelr type and period. “Tg my knowledpe," he sald, "the
014 Stone House is the omly building in the Distriet that tie archi-

tecture ldentifies as one of the Pre-Hevolutionary pericd.“g

1. tiimubes of ihe Georgetown Comndssioners, 1751-1789, Vol. 1, p. 42.
(1G)
2. The New York 'limes, donday, April 2&, 1950, p. 14C.
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Architect Waterman was especlally interested in the mantel in
the room an the second floor at the bask and tne fins old paneling,
featuring large square panels divided by narrow and small square
panes.3 The only similar paneling in America, he declared, is in
the American wing of the Metropoelitan ¥aseum of Art in New York.#
Tnis simllar paneling was that found in a room from Long Lslard taken
from a house built about 1?39.5

The second floor room in the Old Stone House 1s paneled on two
sldes to the ceiling with two c¢losets witih arched door heads which
balance the fireplace on the nortn side.6 It is believed by

architects that the interler paneling and trim were transplanted to

the 01ld Stone House fram an earlier lccation.?

3. Ihid.

4, Ibid.

5. R. M. Taylor, Washineton's Headquarters in Georgstown, D. C.
Publie Library, o. 2.

A. Ibld.

. Dawvis, Dersey, and Hall, Georgetown Housgs of the Fedaral Periad.

Cormwall, H. ¥.; ©. L15.
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CHAPTER 3

GEORGE ASHINGTON'S LNGINEERTNG HiADQUARTERI

The 01d Stone House has often been referred to as George
vashington's Headquarters. Althouph numercus sttempts to prove
this statement by documentary research have failed, the tradition
has lingered on. However, & Very common misconception of thia
tpaditionsl story has developed in recent years. In smpeaking teo
meny peTBONS concerning this tredition, it was dlscovered that the
vast majority of them were thinking in terms of a milltary head-
quarters when the phrase "Washington's Headquarters' was mentioned
in comnection with the 0lad Stone House, This, of course, iz a
direct contradiction of the older traditional tale. For years,
certain resldents considered the house to have been lashingtonts
Engineering headquarters while surveying the new Capital in 17%1.
The traditicnal story gave no mentlon of a military headquarters,
nor has there ever been anmy indications that Washington had any
connections with the structure during the Revolutionary “ar.

As early as 187k, however, there was & plaque on the 0ld Stone
House, stating that 1t wms "George Washinpgton's Ingineering ilead=-
quarters.“l 4 later historlcal marker placed there in 1859 re
rerrad to the structurs as being "leorge Washingten's Headquarters

Wiile surveying Jashington in 17%1.% Thus 1t is plain to see that

i Personal interview with Mrs, Alice CUlbson, December &, 1954.

14
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the original tradition referred to the structure as a Headquarters
for Washington only while the new Capibal was being planned in 1771.
Such a tradition in itself limits the time w:ich Washington could
nave spent in the 01ld Stone Jouse to a matter of a fow days,

When did this traditional story begin. Mrs, Alice Glbsan, &
gracious lady now living in Arlingten, vivlidiy remembers the Uld
5ione House. In 1874, Mrs. Cibson, then a slx year old child,
1ived in Georgetown fcross from the 0ld Stone House. She rscalled
that there was a plague on the house stating that 1t was'eorge
Washington's fhglneering Headquart&rs.“2 At that time the structure
vas belng used as a business establishment of some kind. Nrs. Glbsen
further stated that people commonly referred to the structure as
Washington's Headquarters; and, mereover, that the lecal residenta
were very proud of the cld house.s  Over the yaars this traditlionel
story became [irmly entrenched in the minds of Georgetowm resldents,

A5 & result of this lingering tradition, thers were intermlttent
efforts on the part of local citizens to have the structure preserved
as & historic shrine. Over a long period of time, however, a wveri-
table army of professicnal and nonprofessional historians searched
for evldence which would prove that the 0ld Stons House was Washing-
ton!s dnpginesring Headquartera,

On December 22, 1929, a bill {(H. B. 7393) was introduced in the

House of itepresentatives by Hepresentative lred 4, Britten.t This

2., Ibid,

3. Toid,

li. Hemorandum from Mes, V. W, Woods to S0l ifloom, 1-13-32 iucords of
the Cuorpe YWashington Bicentennial Semmission (M),
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b111 preoposed to nake the structure known as Vashingbon's Engineering
Headnquarters, a naticnal monument and a unit of 2 national engineer-
ing museum.5 The sum of 3200,000 was requested for this project.

In the light of this Impending legislation, an investipation
was launched by local groups to debermine authenticity of the tradi-
tional claims, Dr. George H. Richardson, a local historlan, was as-
signed by the Citizens Advisory Jounclil to investlgate the history of
the structure.6 Dr. Hichardsan later reported to this group that he
had ¢onsulted with "all the present experts on Washington hlstory®
and had failed to find any confirmation whatscever for the story.!

Buttressed with report, the Citlzens Advisory Council on
February 25, 1930 recommended stronply agesinst the project to re-
store the "Headquarters of Georpe ?mshingtun.“a With this strong
recommandation against restoration at that time based on e nsar
unanimous agreement of local historians that the 0ld Stone House
was not '"Washington's Headquarters," the proposed legislation lailed
to become law, Among the historiecal authoritles consulted at that
time was Allen C. Clark, long time President of the Columbia Histor-
ical Society, Kr. Clark stated categorically that there was no
evidence to prove that the 01d Stone House was Washington'a Head-
quarters, and that he was firmly convinced that it was not, He
gaid, "The face of the 0ld Stone House has been a haven of histori-

cal markers, JThese have been false in their rrte:ssage:."gI Similar

T Told,

6. Vashinjton bveninp Star, Feb. 25, 1930,

T. Ibid,

B. Ibid.

. Allen C, Clark, "Suter's Tavern," necords of the Lolumbia Hige
torical Socisty, Vol. L2433, pa 117.
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views Were expressed by other local historians. Everyone asemed to
apree that while the traditional story concerning the use of the
house had acquired an increasing impetus, the critical evaluation

of historical svidence failed completely to corraborate or to justify
the traditional claima.lﬂ

A few years later researchers wera employed by the George
Washington Bicentennial Commission to attempt to find evidence
which would prove the traditional story, These investipators alse
failed to uncover any pertinent evidence, In more recent years
othar perams interssted in local history, including some well-
qualified historlans have carried on research on the 0ld 3Stone
House and they too have Jolned the growing army of persons who
fajiled to locate any decumentary evidences to prove this strange
tale of the pazt.

Mihough the strong treditleon surrounding the 014 Stone House
may not be lightly discarded, a careful evaluation ef events sur-
rounding the old structure fails to support or strengthen the tra-
dition in this Instance,

The mest aerious deberent, of course, is the inescapable fact
that neither bhefore nor in the recent regearch for this report, has
any documentary evidence been unearthed to substantlate the claim

that thue structure was "Washingten's Lnpgineering Headquarters,"

10. Ibid.
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History is dependent upon facts based upon written records, lAthout
such records, even in view of a lingering traditicn, history cannot
be writtem, In thls aspect of the Old 3tone Houvse story, it would
be impossible in view of the complete lack of written evidence to
refer ta the structure as the "Ingineering Headnuarters of George
Yashington."

In addition to the leck of documentary evldence to prove that
the structure was "ashington's deadquarters, there are other facts
which stronply tend to bear out this strange lack of evidence, The
strictest interpretation of the traditional story tells us that
VUashington is said to hawve used the Uld Stone douse as an lnglneer-
ing Headguarters wiile the new city of Washington was belng surveyed
and planned in 1791. MNot only tdeoes such an interpretatlon 1imlt the
time 1n which Washington may have been assotiated with the houss to
a single year, or month, but it confines the period to some feyw
days, The question arises; %Would George ‘Vashington eatablish a
porsonal headquarters for such 2 shori peried of time?

Washington was vitally Interesied in the establishment of the
new city. However, in 1791, hz was the President of the United
States and was located in Philadelphla, the l'ederal Capital. Hot-

withstanding his interest in the now capital on the Potomac, which

had heen authorlzed by the act of July 16, 1790, President Washington




1%

was fnlly engaged in the new and exacting task of directing the new
Government of the United States, During the time in wuich the cliy
of Weshington was planned and surveyed by Hajor Lt*infant, and as-
gigtants, it is a matter of record thet the President was only able
te be in the new federal district for § days., These days were [ull
and active ones wlth numerous meetings and officlal gcts, Tt weuld
geem strange indeed that the President would have found time alone
to sat up an Engineering Headquarters. The actual work of effecting
‘the original plan was altsr all assigned te Major L'infant, and much
of the supervision of other public affairs was Fiven to the thres
Fodersl Commissioners appointed by the President on January 22, 1?91.11

Major Charles Plerre L'anfant, who had been selected by Presi-
dent ‘iashington to plan the new Capital, arrived in CGeorgetown om
March 9, 1791.1% Liunfant lodged at Suter's Tavern and imnediately
began preparations to plan and survey the federal district., The
Mayor of Cgorgetosn secured three or four men to assist the able
planner¢13

his

Toward the snd of the month President Washington paid/first
recorded visit of 1791 te Georgetown for the purpose of selecting
sites for the public buildings and reaching an agrsement with the

oripinal proprietors of the area. On the morning of Harch 28,

1791, the chiel executive, traweling from Bladenshurg, was met a

11. Writings of George Jashington from the Oripinal Aanuseript
Sources, 1iMb-17179, edited by John C, Fitgpatrick; washington:
J. 3, Government Printing Office, Vol, 31, p. 200,

12, Tetter from L'infant to thc Secretary ol State Harch 11, 1791,
Dijpres-LiEnfant-~Horgan Papers, 38 Av, (L&)

13, Ikid.




ray wiles out of town by the principal citizens and eacorted to
Suter's Tavern in Georgetowm, where a public dinner was glvsn in
his honnr.lh The President also lodged at Suter's Tavern in ac-
cordance with his long established custom. Prior to the dinner,
Prasident Washingbon examined the surveys of Mr. Ellicot aﬁd the
works of Hajor L'Fnfant, and mads arrangements to examine the

15

grounds the next day. There was no mention of a visit to his
Headquarters, In fact, Washington examined the survey and plans

at Suter's Tawern, where he had conducted so much ofTicial business
during his days as Preaident of the Potomack Canal Company.

On the forencon ol the 29th, the President inspected the
grounds of the new city and received Liinfant's suggestions on the
locatien of the public buildings, That aftermoon he met with the
JFederal Commissioners to expedite the arrangements with the origl-
nal proprietoras of the selected t-EI‘Tit-OI‘_‘f.llf' In the evening the
bugy President spoks to the propristors, whose procrastination was
already causing him greatest concern,

on the third day March 30th, President Washington met with the
original proprietors of ths land on whieh the Jederal City was to

be estahblished and reached a satisfactory agreement for the convey-

anea of lands to the Federal Gnvernment.l? “hat arterncon the

1, Cashington's Diary, .onday, Harch 26?1?91.
15, Tbid.
16, Gashingten's Liary, Darch 29, 1771,




wonllegatisfied President left Georpgetown for Alexandria and Mount
Yerrnon, During this stay in Ceorgetown, President Vashington re-
sided at Suter's Tavern and condected his important affairs there.
There is every indication that his instrictions to L'lLnfent and
Hlicott were glven In Suter's Tawvern, which had bean the Presidentis
theadquarters" during his entire stay in the Federal [istrict., There
was never ay mention of an Engineering or Surveying Headguarters
during President Uashington's brlef but busy wisit to the zits of
the new Capltal.

The President's next visit to Georgetown during the crucjal
planning of the new Capital came three months later, On June 27,
1791, he arrived at Suter®s Tavern in CGeorgetown to put the finishe

B Since the

inpg touches to the locatlon of the Federal Gity.l
President's sgreement with the original proprietors had been signed,
certaln misconceptions and mlsunderstandings had arlgen in the minds
of the proprietora. However, upon Washington's reappearance in
Juna, all difficulties seemingly vanished, The proprietors of west-
ern and eastern sections of the Federal ares chearfully initiated
the arrangements to carry out the requirements of their apreement

of March 30th."? on Tuesday June 2fith, while the Commlssionera

wore preparing the deeds to be signed by the proprietorsz, lashington

Inspected the new sederal district ;rith ilajor L'unfant and MHr. Ellinctt.zﬂ

18. Ceorgetown keckly ledrer, July 2, 1791.
19, Ibid,
20, Vaghington's Diary, June 28, 171.
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The next day the Fresident was greatly relieved vhen the deeds con-
veying the lands for ths Capital were sirned. On this day also
while the proprietors and Comnissicners were gathered at Suter’s
Tavern the President showed them the approwved Plan of the Federal
City, which hed been completed by Major L'Snfent.”>  The plan, which
met with an enthusiastic response fram all, showed clearly that the
Capitol bullding was to be placed on Jenkins Hil1l on the land of
Iantal Carroll of “ddington and that the Presldent's House and
other Departments were to be situated on the rising ground adjeining
Hamburgh, one mile [rom Genrg&tOHn.EE
Thus by June 29, 1791 the basic planning of the lederal City
had already besn finished, During the time when the new Capitel
was being planned by L'infant, Washington spent exactly six days
in Georgetown. He resided at Suter's Tavern during all of that
time as did Lf'infant who was working con the plan.23 Thus, 1f any
structure ever existed which could lay claim to belng Washington's

place of official business, it was Suter's Tavern, From extant

documentary sources, it appears that Washinptonts so-called "Head-

71, Georgetown Weekly Ledger, July 2, 1791, p. 3-

22, Ibid,

23. John Suter's account apainst Major L'lnfant, Proceedinga of the
Commissioners, (Ovorgetown, Jan. 9, 1792 {Hﬂs. Suter's eriginal
account against Major Ltinflant is quoted by Allaen C. Jlark 1n
his article "Suterts favern" in the Hecords of the Columbiz His-
torical Society, Vol, L2-L3, p. 23, and also by Bessia Wilmarth
Gahnﬁin the book "George Vashinjgton's leadquarters in Georgetown "
Pa 35,




quarters" and Suter's Tavern were one and the same structure.Eh
Subsequently we shall see that the Old Stone House was not Suter'ts
Tavern. Conseguently, in addition to a lack of evidance to support
sn "fngineering Headquarters for Vashington," there is the added
fact of Yasiington's steady use of Suter’s Tavern - an entirely
different structure from the Old Stone llouse. A1l that remains of
the 7ld Stone House 's clalm as washington's Headquarters is a

strange linpering tradition of the past,

Th. In the book "Goorge Washinston's deadquarters in Ceorgetown'
Mrs, Pesslie Wilmarth Cahn attempts to prove that the Uld Stoms
House was Suter's Tavern., Since it was Suter's Tavern where
L'*nfant stayed while he drew up the plan for the Federal City
and where Washington resided while conducting efficial business
in tha Jederal District, it was imperative that the 0ld Stone
House and Suter's Tavern be connected as the same structure in
order fo rive added weight to the theory tnat the Uld Stone House
was the headquarters of washinpton and L'lnfant in connection
with the plan and survey of the ney Capital in 1791, Mrs, Gahn
fails to prove by documentary evidence that the 0ld Stone House
wag Suter's Tavern. This failure to prove that the 0ld Stone
House and Suter's Tavern were the same structurs greatly weakens
the clalm of the former structure to be that of "Ueorge lfashing-
ton's tnpinsering Headquarters" or "L'infants's lieadquarters."



CHAFTER L

MAJOTL L'ENFAWT 'S HEADQUARTERS WHILE
PLANNING THE CITY OF TASETLGTON

L'Enfant's Headguarters not located in §1d Stone House

A second azspect of the traditiconal story involving the 01d
Stone House concerns ita use by Major L'Infant. A study of avall-
able documentary material shows that this story rests only upon the
arronsous theory that the 0ld Stone House and Suter's Tavern wers
one and the same structura., Since it will be proven in a subas=
quant chaptar on Suter's Tavern that the 0ld Stone House was not
Suter's Tavern, the case [pr the 0ld Stone liguse as Liinfant!s
Surveylng Headquariers becomes precericus to say the least,

The attempt to connect L'Enfant with the Uld Stone House
scems moreovar to be oF recent oripin, The first ¥nmown marker
pleced an the structure absut 1874, gave no mentlon of L'Ehfant.l
A later marker placed on the structure in 1899 by the Pirsm Ripley
Soclety, children of the American Ilevelution called the building
Mreorge Washingten's Headgquariers while surveying dashington in
1?"":3’1..“E There was 3t111 no mention of I._.'E.nf_'ant. When Hra.

Bessie l{ilmarth Cahn's book Ceorpge Jashington's Headguarters in

Georgetown appeared in 1940, 1t supported the wlew that in addi-

tion to belnp Yashington's headquartera, the 0ld Stone House

1. Personal interview with Frs, ilice Gibson, Dee. 6, 190
2. Ersgle Uilmarth Gahn, Georpe \ashington's Headovarters 4in
(eorpretown, Silver Sprimg, rde: 2940 rress of ‘estland, p. 9.

2L
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had alsc been Suterls Tavern and L'infant's surveylng headgquarters,

The evidence gathsred by lrs, Gehn adequately gupported the
known fact that L'infant made both his headguarters and resldence
at Suter's Tavern.? At the time, however, Mrs. Gzhn was unshle
to prove by the usze of substantial documentary evidence that the
0ld Stone House was Suter'a Tavern. HMoreover, recent avlidence
proves that Suter's Tawern could not have been the 0ld Stone House.
In the light of this situatlon, it would be impossible to maintsin
that L'Enfant used the 0ld Stone House as a swrveylng offics,

Wnen L'Enfant arrived in Georgetewn on March 9, 1791, he went
directly to the Mayor as he had been ingtructed.® Them the vision-
ary Major tock up his zbode at the well-known Tavern of John Suter,
and immersed himself in the task of planning the new city.s He was
later Jjoined at Suter's by Andrew Elllcott and Baron De Graff.6
L'Enfant continued to reside at the famous hostelry end it was thers

that he executed the original plan of the new Capital, By March 26,

1791, the indomitable Frenchman had completed a full report on the

3. Olliver W, Holmes, "l'he Jolonial Taverns of Georgetowm." Heo—
ords of the Columbia Histordcal Seciety, Vol, 51-52, p. 1. In
this article Lr. Holmes stated that Suter's Tavern was "where
L'Enfant, the clty planner, and cllicott, the city surveyor, had
their headquarters and did their sipgnificant work, This fact 1s
frther supported by the original account of John Suter against
Major L'lknfant and Mr, Elldcott thru Dec, 20th, of 1791, which
may be found in the Proceedings of the Federal Commissioners,(Na),

L, Letter from L'enfant to the Secrotary of State, Mar. 11, L1791.
Digges-L'enlant-Horgan Papers, FSS. Eiv, (I2).

G« John Buter's account against Andrew L1licott, Major L'infant, and
Baror. De Craff, Proceedings of the lomissioners, G, ¥, Jan, 9,
1792, (MA)

6. Tbid,
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location of the Houses of Congress, Président's house and othar
aspects of the new Federal Dist.rictq.?

When the Presldent came to Georgetown on March 28 to confer
with the origlnal proprigtors he was eager to examine L'Enfant's
report on the new city. At Suter's Tavern where both men lodged,
the President and hip chosen planner dlacussed the proposed de—

yvalopmant of the new d:l.:z.ﬂ:r;l.n::t.B

Three months later Washington
axhibited L'Infant's originel plan io the proprietors with great
gatlsfaction,

It seams very clesr that L'Enfant's ac-called headquarters or
office was a room in Suter's Tavern, Further evidence support-
ing this view is glven in the words of L'Enfant himeelf, In
December of 1791, he hacd gone to Phlladelphia to confer with the
President on the new Capital, In hia sbsencs, the Federal Commig-
giomere dismissed hls asslatant and workmen, adding fual to the
simmering differences that were brewing between L'Enfant end the
Commigsioners,’

In a sworn stetemant made by L'Enfant in 1803, the temper-
amental planner gaid that while he was in Philadelphia in Decome
ber of 1791, & trunk end several bexes containing his oificia}
plans, engravings, and drawings as well as all bis surveylng
equipmant, his mathematical instruments and wouchera were

tsarried away from the place of his abode" by the L'rumd.ssinners.m

Fe Report ol Hajor L Entant to President Washington, Mar. 20, 1791,
G,Te L'Enfant Papers 1771-180%, M33. Liv, (LC}.

8, Washington's Diary, Mar, 28, 1791.

g, Major L'lnfant's sworn affidawit before Willism Thormton, Feb. B,
1803, IHgpes-Morpgan-Liinfant Papers, M5S. Div, {LC}.

10, Ibhid,.
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This statement and other collaborating information provided by
I'Enfant shois that his office and his place of abode were one and

11 3inee we know that his place of abode while planning

the sama.
the city through December 20, 1791, was John Suter's Tavern, the
inevitahle conclusion is that LPEnfant's office was also located
in Suter's Tavern, This information coupled with the knowledge
thet the 0ld 5tona House was not Suter's Tavern, enables one to
Mrmty state that L*Enfant did not use the 01d Stone House 1n con=
nection with the planning of the National Capital,

Ltinfant end his Mfficultiss

hen Plerre Charles L'Enfant vas chosen by Fresident Washingten
to plan the Federal City, he looked upon hls assignment as a great
challenge. This brilliant artist who had foupght npon the battle-
field for American independence would not plan for but a single
century, but for a thousand years,

Major L'Enfant was described as "a man marked by a stern
independence of characker in all eircumstances and conditions ...
one whom no mative of interesat or temptatiom of convenience could
away from hls purposs or jnduce to alter hiz plan to suit the taste
or the purpose of his Emplojrers.”l2 Because he had been personzl-
1y selected for his task by dashinpton, L'anfant consldered himself

accountable to no other authority than thae President.13 Apparently

11, 3ecause of this fact, it was imperative for Irs, Gahn to attempt
to prove that Suter's Tavein wes located in the 01d Stone liovse.

12, Typed 53 on Ccorgetown end Hajor L'infant, Tagpert Papers,
MSS5. Div, {IC).

13, Inid,
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others In the new Federal Zistrict considered hiz power to be an
par with that of the three Federal Commissioners. On fpril 12,
1792, Saruel Davldeon told the Cormissioners that Lf'nfant!s aue
thority was generally considered te be of egual mapnitude to thelr
mm.lh

In spite of President Washington's great respect for Major
L'Enfant's ability, he had entrusted full aunthority for all matters
pertaining to the Capltal City to the [aderal Commissioners and he
sxpected L'LEnfant bo cooperste with them, It was not long before
dgifficulties arose between the planmer and the Commiszsioners.

Both the Commissioners and the President desperately tried to
sogthe tha anger of Daniel Carroll ol Duddington, when Major
L'Enfant had his house torn down because it obstructed the plans,
President liashington advised Daniel Carrell that L'Znfant's "zeal
in the public cause has carried him too fhst.“ls The Preasident
personally reprimanded L'Mnfant for hils action, as follows:

-+« Having the beauty, and hamony of your
plan only in vlew, you pursus it as il every
person and tlilng was obliped to yleld to it;
whereas the Commissioners have many sircum-
gtances to attend to, soms of shich, perhaps,
may be unknown to you; which evinces in a
strong point of wiew, the propriety, the nee-
es58ity and even the gafety of your actiag by
their direction ...+

Approximately three months later, the brilliant plamer was

relievad of his official dutles. Thomas Jefferson wrote Major

1L, Letter from Samiel Davidsoa to the commissioners, G, T.
April 12, 1732 - Lavidson Capers, I[85, Div, (LC),

15. Letter from Ueorge Lashingteon to Daniel tarroll of Duddir ctog.
Phila,: Dec, 2, 1791, Archives of Usorputoum iniversity.

16, Letber from Georgse .asns wton o Hajor Li.nfant, Phila.: Dec, 2,
1791, Digpos<L'Bnrant-jorgan Papers, 1778=-21792, M335,0iv, (LO).



Lilnfant an February 27, 1792 that he had been instructed by the
President to inform him that hilsz services must he at an and.l? The
Pregident also wrote a peraonal letter Lo L'Enfant on the [ollow-
ing day in which he assured the Hajor that hls retentlon would have
been most plessing to him, But the Chief Executive also said:

« v o8very mode has besn tried to accormodate
your wishes on this principle, except changing
the Commissioners (for Commissicners there must
be, & under their dirsction the public buildings
must be carried on ...} to change the Commlssion-
erg cannot be done on grouwnd of propriety, justice,
or policy . el0

Thus the Eifﬁed and individﬁalistic clby planna# was reljeved
of hls oflicial duties. Howsver, for the better part ol a year
L*infant had been vltally concerned with the planning and de-
volopment of the Federal City., In a few short months after his
errival in Oeorgestown he completed the original plan of the new
Faderal City, which was epproved by the President and the Congress,
Although certain changes and devlations ware later made from thia
plan, the great Kational Capital even to this day follows the
basic design of this man whose tomb now silently owverlooks the

¢ity of "magnificent distances" which he planned over 160 years ago.

17. Copy of letter irom Secretary of State to Hajor L'Enfant,
Fob. 27, 1798. Lipges-L'infant-forpan Papers, 1S3. ldv, (LC)

18, Letter from Ceorge Washington to Major L'udnfant. s'eb, 28,
1792. UDipges-Llinfant-Morpan Papers, H5S, Uive (LO)




CHAFTER 5.

USE OF THE OLD STONE ROUSE

Tt seems felrly evident that the Cld Stone House was criginally
erected in 1765 by Rachsel Layman as a private reaidenca.l In the
next year the structure was acquired again apparently for use as &

private residence by Cassandra Chew.

Cessandra Chew and the Old Stone House

After long searching of genecloglcal accounts, court recorda,
and other sources, there still remaina an aura of mystery about
Cassandra Chew of Ogorgetown. John Chew, the recorded progenltor
of the Chew family in Virginia anpd Maryland, came to ¥irginia in
the ship "Charitle" in 1622.2 He and his wife Sarah were living
in Yirpginia in 1648, but removed to Maryland before 1659.3

We later find Joseph Chew, lat and 2nd respectlvely, lliving in
Anne Arundel and Prince Geocrges Counties, in Har:rland.J+ In 1767
Bennet Chew of Annapolis wag prospering as a merchant and Samuel
Chew of Herring Bay was engaged in shipping.5

However, nowherea in the gensologlcal records of the Chew famlly
15 there a mention of a Cassandra Chew. This is odd, indeed, for

there appears to have been as many &s tioree women by that name;

1. Minutes of the Ceorgstown Comsissloners, 1751-1789, ¥Yel. 1, p. Lz
M55. Div. (LC)

2, The Chew Family. FRecords of Frank Chew Osburm, 1745, ps 3. Hall
of Records, Annapolis, Md,

:_"p- ;_h__i‘_g;' D lli

4. Ikid, p. 15.

5

. Maryland Gazetts, Jan. 23, 1747, p. 4.

a0
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unlass, the Cassandra Chew of Georgetown moved about with amazing

speed.

In 1764, Cassardra Chew scquired lot Ne. 62 in Eﬂorgetuwn.é
¥rom all indications she was a resident of the town &t that tima.
A few years later, in 1770, she was officially listed in the Jeorge-
town census as residing thers at the age of 47 yaars.? Less than
one year earlier, however, a Cassandra Chew of Cecil County, Marylend,
was shown as adminlstratrix of the estate of her deceased husbard,
Phineas Chew.S From all indications this was not the Cassandra Chew
of Georgetown. A [ew years later this wldow of Phlneas Chew married
Samual Durbin.g In asddition to the Cassandra Chews of Georgetown and
Cecil County, Tecords show that in 1790, Cassandra Chew was married
to Nathanlel Calder in Frederlck Guunty.lG At this very time in
Georgetown, Cassandra Chew waa liasted aa being resident of sgld town
and there were no indications of & change in marital status. Thus,
it appears that thers may have bean as many as three individuals bearing
the name Cassandra Chew. Yet, strange as it may seem, thls neme waa

never mentioned in the geneclogical Chart of the Chew famlily.

§. Minytes of the Georgetown Commissioners, ¢p., cit., p. #0.

7. OCensus of 1776 for Frederick County, Box 2, Folder 8, p. 17-
Hell of Records, Annapolis, Md.

8. Arcounts, 1775. Liber 12, folip 71. Hall of Recorda,
Annapolis, MA.

¢, Chancery Records 1787. Liber 15, p. 271, Hall of tecords,
Annapolis, Md.

10. Frederick County Marriage necords, 1779-1798, o. 35. Hall of
Resorda, Annapolis, Md.
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On June 9, 1767, Cassandra Chew purchased original lot-3
in Oeorgetown from Rachael and Jacob Furvey "fer ard in conslderation
of lot Ho. 62 ... and 100 lba. current mgney.“ll Thus, she came into
poasession of the 0ld Stone Housa preparty. On Juns 10, 1767, one
day later, Cassandru provided thaet vpon her death or marriage lot 3
should become the property of her two daughters, Harriet and Mary
Chew. In the event her daughters should both die without heira, lot 3
vas to become the property of Robert Peter, the ploneer merchant of
Geargatoun.lz The ralationship betwean Caasandra Chew and Georgetown's
wealthy merchant and first mayer is further indicated by a Deed of gift,
also dated June 10, 1767. In the words of this deed Hobert Peter gave
to Cassandre Chew and ner daughters lot 29 "for and in considaration of
the love and affection which I have and do bear unte Cassandra and her
daughters, Mary and Harrlet Chew and for dlvers other goeod causes and
consideration."? In the event that Mary and Harriet should dle withcut
heirs, the lot was to go to Mr. Peter's brother, Alexander in Glaagow.
Cassandra Chew may have resided in the 0ld Stone House for

a time after she acquired 1t in 1767, for at that time most of

11. Frederick County Land Recopds, 1748-1778. Liber X, folio 1322,
Hall of Reccrds, Annapolls, Md. _

12. Frederick County Land Records, 1748-1778, Liber X, follo 1324,
Hall of Records, Annapolis, Hd.

13. Ikld.
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the structures 1n the block were being used as private homss, It
was only after 1800 that thls aection of Bridga Street began to
houge mumercus commsrelal ahnpa.lh
By 1790, however, it appears that she was residing in
the structure at lot 29, which had been glven to her by Hobert
Peter, Mra, Ghew and cne other white female, apparently her
daughter Harrlet, were listed as occupylng the same abpde in the
1790 Gunauﬂ.15 However, the older daughter Mary who had marrled
RAichard Srdth, was listed separately in the sames Census, From all
indications Mary llvad in the Old Stone House on lot 3, which
eventually became her sole propart}'.l6
The tax asseasment recorda lor OGeorgetown 1n 1793, show
that Capsandra Chew's property at lot 29 was wvalued at 25D puunds.lT
In thls same year the property listed under the name of her dauphter

Mary Smith, which was In all probability the Old Stone House, was

1. Direct Tax Records for (morgetown 1798, Maryland Historlcal
Soolety, Baltimore, Md,

15, Firet Census of the ¥, 5. Maryland, Montgomery Gounty (NA).

16, Robert Fetert's Will. Mantgomery County Will Book, Liber F,
follo 322, Rockville, Md, {Robert Peter provided in hils will
of May 10, 1B02 that within three months after the death of
Cagsandra Chew, daughter Harriet would convey all her interest
in the Old Stone House property or lot 3 to sister Mary Erumlay,
In return Harrlet was to receive lot 29 after the death of her
Mother, }

17. Account of Lots and Heouses in Georgetown assessment book,
1792-1777. Montgomery County HRecords,
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valued at 400 pounda.lB Two years later, the tax records alss show
that the structure st lot 29 in which Mrs. Chew lived, was a sub-
stantial 2-story Hrick [Z'r.-.'e.'.l.fl..fmg«1':jl At thls time two housshold
servants, one male the other femzle, were listed among the perscnal
preperty of Cassandra Chew.20

In 1800, Mre. Chew was listed as ownlng & Hegrﬂes.zl It would
appear that her finaneiazl eircumstances were adenguate fer a rather
gracious mode of living in Qld Geergetown.

In 1802, Casgandre was still living at lot 29,42 Tt had been
provided in Robert Peter's will that she would remain there for the
reat of her pmatural life. It is believed that she died in 1808, or
shortly thereafter.23

Although relatively little is known about Caassandra Chew, much
is known of the man who showed such Kindness to her and her daughters.
Robert Peter, Georgetown's ploneer merchsant, opened hls Rock Creek store
in 1752, He soon begause a prospersus and hlgnly respected citizen of
the community and early engaged in vast real estate speculation., His land

boldings became Tabulous and they included many tracts in Maryland as well

18. Accounts of Lots and Houses in Georgetown. Asgsessment Haok,
1793-1797. Montgomery County Records.

19. Dlrect Tax Aecords for Geargetcwnl_l?QE, Maryland Historlcsal
Society, Baitimore, Hd.

20, Ta» Assessment Book, 1798-1812, Montgomery County Recorda,
Rockyille, M4.

21. Georgetown Asssssment Book, 180007, Distriect of Columbia Hecords.

22. Robert Peter's Will. Montgomery County Will Fook, Liber F,
folie 329.

23. Title Search of orlpglnal lot 3 in Georgetown by Attorney Alfred H.
Baker, Aur. 15, 1930, p. 3; GCase lKo. 1691&H. Records of the
Feal Estate Title Insurance Co. and Columbla Tltle Insurance Co.
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ag lots in Georgstown and Washington. It was nof wnusual at all

to see newspaper ads that Robert Peter was selling 12 or 1 lots

at & tima.zh His house stood on Hlgh Street just ecuth of the
later Chesapeake and Chle Canal, He alsc mned the whele block
between Congress (31st) Street and High Street (Wisconsin Ave.)

up to Bridge (M) Sirest. It was knowm ab YFater's Squara.“25
However, in addltion to his local business and rea) estate holdings,
he wag the agent of John (lassford and Company, of North Britein,

26 4o

which maopolized much of the Potomac River tobacco trada.
also had tha distinction of being Ceorgetesm's flrat Mayor. At
about the age ol LD Hobert Peter married Elizabeth Scott of Prince

George's County, Hd.z?

Eight children were born te this union.
Robert Peter's solicitous concern for the welfare of
Cassandra Chew i shown by his gift of lot 29 to her 4n 1767.2%
Nr, Peter further provided for the welfare of her two daughtera,
1n the case of the eldest daughter, Mary, his intersst reeched
heyond his own death, For he appointed his relative John Feter

to act as trustee for Mrs. Mary {(Smith) Brumley (in 1802 after

3l;» Yareinia Journal and Alexandria Advertiser, July 29 1785, pe 1.

2c, Crace Dunlop EZcker Portrait of Uld Georgetcown, p. 65+

26, Hugh Taggert "Old Ceorgetown,"' Records of the Columbia Hiztorie
cal Society, ¥ol. XI, pp. 167-6E.

27, John Glaggett Proctor "Early Leorgetown History," Evening Star,
May 15, 1238, :

28, tFrederick County Land Hecorda, 1748-1778, Liber K, folle 132} {(HR).
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after death of her [irst hueband Mary was married to Jogeph Brumley)

about .1502.29

Upon the death of the first trustee, Robert Peter
appointed his own son, Thomas Feter, to be Hary's t.rustee.jn

In 1801, a few years before his own death Robert Peter
purchased the five Negro slaves of Mary Chew Smith for the price
of 32,000.31 A year leter he placed the game Nepgro slaves "and
thelr future incresse unte Jolm Peter ... 1n trust for the sole
and exclusive uwae ol the said Mary Brumley." Mr, Peter alszoc ab-
solved Mary from all debts which ghe owed to him. In his will
gigned May 10, 1802 he also made certain that Mary was to re-
celve full title to the 01ld Stons House property upen the death
of her mnther.32 Thomas Peter, son of Hobert, carried out hia
father's wishes in assisting Mary in her legal transactions, In
1812 he mnd Mary Brumley scld a 7-month old Negro toy to Matilda
Hawking for #1.00, They also jointly gawe the Negro servant
Matilda her freedom in consideration of 3200.00.

Cassandra Chew's younger daughter Harrlet was also
assured by the will of Robert Peter of eventnally galning full
posseeaion of lot 2%, where her mother reslded during most of

her dayw in Georgetosm, Harriet later marrled and was known as

Harrlat Bruce., When she waz but twelve years of age, however,

29, Bessie Wilmarth Gahn "Georgetown's Histerie Taverna," lashing-
tan Post, December 1%, 1940,

0. licbert Peter's will signed May 10, 1B02. Montgomery County
Will Recorda, Liber F, folio 329,

31. Montgomery Land Recerds, Liber I, lolio 381.

32, Hobert Peter's Will. Montgomery County Will Hecords, Liber F,
folio 329,
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lot L) in the Destty~Hawkins Addition to Georgetown was acqulred
for her. This 1ot was purchased on March 15, 1771 for 1 pound
and wag recorded under the cwnership of 12 year old Harlot Peters
(alies) Chew.>? 1In 1800 1t appears that Harlot was still living
with her mother Cassandra Chew, at lot 2% 1n Ceorgetown, for in
addition to Harlot, cne free female over LD years and one free male
under 10 years were listed in the 1800 Census aa living ai the
oame raaidence.3h It is strongly balieved that these individuals
were the mother and son respectivaly of Hariot Eruce. The view
that Cassandra Chew was living with daughter Harlot is further
subgtantiated by the fact that both the 1790 and 1800 Census in-
dicated that two women corresponding in age o mother and daughter
were 1llving at the same residanna.35 In 1790, bowever, Gaéaandra
Chew was llsted ms head of the household; while, in 1600 Hariot
Pruce wes listed aa such.

Upon the desth of Cassandra Chew, daughter Harlot re-
ceived lot 29 om High Street., In 1815 she was stlll reslding at
this location and her 2-story brick house was assessed for 31,BDG.35
It 1s most interesting to note that Harriot was also assessed for
1ot 4% in Georgetown wolch had been given to her when she wea but

a child of twalve,

33. Original 1ist showing purchase of lots in Beatty-lawkins
Addivion, July 1, 1770, Pseabody foom, Georgetoun Branch of
the D. C, Fublic Iibrary,

3. Census of 1800 for District of Columbia (NA},

35, Firet Census of the U. 5. for Maryland, (Montgomery County}
and the 1800 Census for the District of Columbla (HA).

36, Georgetown Assessment Book D G. Records.
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Mary Smith Drumley and Use of the Oid Stone House
1790 = 1800.

In 1790, whils Cassandre Chew and daughter Hariot were
living at lot 29, the eldest daughter Mary was residing at lot 3
in tha Old Stone House, Apparantly & widow by this time ghe was
listed as head of the famly under the name Mary Smith,3! Ale
though in later years Mary rented or leased the 0ld Stons Houne
to various persons for a place of busineas, the ilrst avidenca
of such & practlca does not appear untll the year IBDG.BB Thua,
1t may very well be that during the decade from 1790 to 1800,
Mary Smith may have used the 0ld Stone House exclusively aa a
private residence, Such & use would coinclde with the historldeal
fact that prior to 1500 the block of Bridge Street bounded by
Congress and Washington Strests way primarily of a residantlal
character. In 1793, Mary was aBasssed for the Uld 3tone House
and 1ot 3, the property being valued at $hop,3? The extant
tax asgesament records follow thla same property in the name of
Mary Smith without interruption through to 1.?5'3..1‘{:'i

Tt would have besn during the psriod of 1790 to 1800,
vhen the 0ld Stone House was owned and occupled by Mary Smith,

the daughtar of Cagsandra Chew, that the structure could have

7. First Census of the U, 8, for Maryland (Montgomery County)(MA),

38, Georgetown Assessmeut Book 1800-1507. D, G. Records,

39, Account of Lota and Houses in Usorgstown. Assesament Book
17931797, HMontgomery County Records,

L0, Account of Lots and liouses in Georgetown, Assessment Book
1758«1612, Mantgomery County iHecords.
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been used by George Washington and Major L'Enfant, To data thare
has not been any documentary evidence uncovered to show that
Washington elther visited the house or used it as a headguarters
in 1791, There is documentary evlidence, howevear, which proves
that the structure could not have been used by L'Enfant and was
pertainty not Suter's Tavern, Thus, on the basls of avallable
historlcal recorda, we are confrented with the following plature.
In the significant year 1791, arcund which the traditlonal story
of the old structure has develcped, the 01d Stone Houss was
1isted under the nams of Mary Smith, who it appears usel the
structure for her private residence. Although the very strong
indication is that the Old Stonme House waa never used by George
Wagshington during this time, it is quite possible to sseums that
many well-known Georgstown residants may have visited in the
house, It is certaimly very probable that Robert Feter, the [irat
mayor of the toun may hava visited Mary Smith at her realdsnce

by wirtue of thelr close firiendshlp. It was by means of his will
that she received full cwnership of the property, Perhsps other
nearby neightors such as Themas Corcoran, the great financlar,

also may have spent time in the Old Stone House,



Ize af 01d 3tona House after 1800.

In 1800 the widow Mary Smith rented a house and lot on
Bridga Street te Joklm Suter, Jr.h'l This appears to have bean
the 01d Stone House itszelf rather than the structure immedlately
eaat of the 01d Stone House on lot 3, This brings up the Intearest-
ing fact that prior to 1800 and for same years latar there were
two gtructures on lot 3.°° The Old Stone House was located on
the weatern portion of the lot fronting approximately 17-20 feet
on Bridge Street, The second structure just east of the Old
Stane Housa fronted Bridge Street for 16 feﬂ't.m Jam Sutar,
Jr. did not rent the atructure on lot 3 for a residence, but
rathar for a watch-makerts shop, a busineass in which he engaged
after leaving tha Union Tawrn.m‘ He also owned a structurs on
1ot §3 in Georgetcwn wilch he had been using as a reaidmca.hs

At thie point it should be clearly undarstocd that
John Suter, Jr, was the son of Suter, Sr., who had cperated the

famoua Oeorgetown tavern known &3 3uter's Tavarn or the "Fountain

L1, Georgetown Assessment Book 10800-1807, D. C. Racords.

L2, Early Hap of Jeorgetown prior to 1800,-Copy of orilginal (now
mesing} from the Archives of the Soclety of Oldest Inkabpltenta,
This excellent but little kmown map showm early structurea lo-
cated on the lots and givea names of the residents.

3. Title Search of eriginal lot 3 in Ceorgetown by Attorney Alfred
Baker, Aug, 15, 1930, Case No, 169168. Hecords of Heal Estate
Title Insurance Co, and Columbia Title Insurance Go,, Washinge
tob, D.C

L. Washington Federalist Nov, 10, 180L, p. L. (Copy 1n the Boston
Atheneum}.

|5, Direct Tax Records for Oporgetown 1778, Marylend Hiatorical
Dociety, Baltimore, Hd, (It was also verlfied by the Cemsus of

1800 that John Suter, Jv, was residing in Georgetown at that time,)
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Inn" from 1?53-1?9&. Upon the death of the elder Suter, hias

widow operated the tavern for one year and 1t then passed lnto

the hands of other individuala, In 1796, the eldest son John Suter,
Jr. operated the Unlon Taverm at Washington and Bridge Strests in
Georgetown. Hawever, this was a separate and distinct structure

from the originel Suter's Tavern which bad been operated earllier

by Suter's fathers It 1s important at this point to grasp the
slmple distinction between father and son. For this very dla=
tinetion 1s completely confused and muddled in the account aof

tha Tavern in the W. P, A, Writer!s Oulde to Washlngten and other
a3

published material.
Thus, the resting of the Old Stone House in 1800 by
John Suter, Jr, [or use as & watchmaker'!a shop, has no bearing
whatsoever on the supposed use of the Old Stone House as a
tawrn. Jom Suter, Jr., of courss, dld have a clocss relaticn-
ship with the family of Mary Smith, sincs ha married Barbara
3mith, the daughter of Richard and Hary Smith., This relstion-
ship is carefully pointed out by Mrs. Bessie Gahn in her book

on the 0ld Stons House., Mrs, Gahn elso atates Jnhq Suter, Sr.

L&, Washingtan City & Capltal. PFederal Writer's Froject (H.P.A.)
Washington 1937 U.S, Government Frinting Office, p. 124,
Herein 1s glven a confused account stating that Jahn Suter
who oporated the "Fountain Inn" bought the Union Tavern 1n
1800. Facts of course show that John Suter who operated the
tFountain Inn" died in 1794 and his son John Suter, Jr. ace
quired the Union Tavern im partnership in 1795, Such glar-
ing discrepencies 1n the accounts of histery do not make the
task of historians working in Georgetown hlstory an easy oney
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had %nown Cassandra Chew, the grandmother of hls son's wife.

However, in sttempting to prove that the 014 Stons House was Suter's
Tavern {1783-1794), Mre. Gatn's entlre case was based on the Cfollowing
assumption: .

ees It could hardly be surmised, in
faet, that Suter would have opened his
tavern elszewhere. His neighbor in
Fentgomery County, Mrs. Mary Smith, and
her Mother (Mrs. Cassandra Chew of
Georgetown}, had an interest in thae
tavern property on lot 3 ...

The sbove assumption ia not supported by documentary evidence
in Mrs. Gahn's book. However, from this assumption, ¥rs. Gahn goes
on to ecarefully record the genersl history of Suter's Tavern as if
it hed already been proven that the tavern was located in the 0ld
Stone House. It will be ¢learly shown in the [ollowlng chapter that
the Old Stone House was not Suter's Tavern.

Returning to John Suter, Jr., it seems that he diecontinued his

watchmaking business in the 0ld Stone Houss for a time after 1804,

but that he had resuwned business in 1804. Tha Washineton Federallst

of November 10, 1804, states the John Suter, Jr. has "resumed business

on Bridge Street, a few doors west of Unien Tavern.!

47. Jain, op. cit. p. 30. Mps. Gahn offers no documentary evidence

=1

ta waprrant the reference to the lot 5 property as the "Tavern
property . "
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By 180L, Mary Smith had married for the second time to
Joseph Brumley, In this same year whlle John Suter, Jr. was rent-
ing the 014 Stone House for his watchmaker's shop frem her, Mery
Smith Brumley, &leng with her mother and younger sister, who still
shared an interest in the property, leased the structure just east
of the Cld Stone House to Joel Eruwn.ha The leasa, which was ex-
tended to run 5 years [rom the date and the death of Cassandra
Chew, called for an annual rental of $12, In thls structure which
stood just east of the 0ld Stone House Joel 3rown operated a
Hetter's shop.h9

Thus, in 1804, the 0ld 3tcone House was being used as a
watchmaker's shop and the bullding adjolning was & hatter's shop.
It is not definltely Ynown whether or not Mary Smith bBrumley and
her husband continusd to live in the Cld Stone House whlle John
Suter, Jr. operated his watch shop. It 1s not known exaetly how
long Suter, Jr. continued hls business in the 01d 3tone House,
He was still on Bridge Street in 1805, On Auguat 28, 1808, how-
ever, Mary Smith and her mother leased the structure to William
Clark for ten yaars.ED In this lease the Old Stone House was
des:ribed as "beplnning at the southwest comer of Josl Brown's

Hatterts shop, thence west for 17' 6" ..," This corresponds

B, Case Ho, 1869168, Hecords of Real Estate Title Insurance Co,
and Columbia Title lnsurance (ompany, op. cit.
The above title case shows conclusively that he cccupled a
structure east of the 0ld Stone House,

3. Ibid,

co. Ibid,
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+0 the axact locatlon of the 01d Stone Housa, Willlam Clark used
the house for & tellor's snop. Here it may be of interest to point
out that hardly would a watchmeker and a tailor have rented a
structure of such commodicus size as Suter’s Tavern., However, in
the 014 Stone Homse they found a small structure 1deal for thelr
requirements, Apparently Wi1lliam Clark was still using the house

in 181k, for the Rational Intelllgemcer notes that “Willism Clark,

merchant, tallor an Bridge Street has a handsome assortment of
fine clothes and cashmeres."l It is quite probable that Clark cane
tinued business at thls stand for the full term of the leass,
vhich would have been 1818, In that year the lot 3 property was.
asaessed under the name of Joseph Brumley and valued at 35,000.52
Recoprds do not disclose who immediately followed William
Clark in the Uld Stcne Housa after 1818, Descendants of Fhilibert
Rodier, Chesapeake and Ohlo Canal Company engineer and designer of
the Wisconsin Avenue Bridge, maintaln that Rodler and his family
regided in the 014 Stome House in 1530.53 Although there &re no
extant records to verlfy this, i{ seems quite probeble for the
Georgotown Directory of 1830 lists Rodler as residing on Bridge
Etrest near Washington Street.5 b This i3 about as close a lo=

catlon tothe 01d Stone House other than the actuel address that

B1. Gahn, op. ©ites ps 2.

52. Georgetoun Assessment Book 1818, D, G. Rlecords,

53. C. & 0. Cangl Hecords (N.A.} and personal interview with
dascendants of Phillbert indier.

* By, Georgetown Directory, 1830, D, G. Fublic Library, p, 13.




L5

can be found, Diverting for a8 mament from stralipght historleal
fact, could it be that the strange tradiiion of the little struc-
ture being kmown a8 "An Engineering Haadquartersﬁf::ﬁ§£LW'hava
been connected with C. & 0, Canal engineer, Rodler. Thia Prencb
engineer might well have done some of hla engineering work at

his residence. Of course this would have beemn J1 yeara after the
death of CGecrge Weshington, However, it 1s not out of the realm
of possibility that Washington's name may acmehcow have been aa-
goclated with Rodler's later activlities in the strusture, Was
not Washington promoter of Potomac Canal Company, mnd the Potomac
route to the weat, Even today, many pecple are confused in be-
lleving he also was the antlve founder of the later C, & 0.

Canal Company, which began soms 29 years after his death, It

18, of courae, very possible that back in the 1830's, Washington's
name { perhaps becauso of his early canal activities) might

have been associated with tha activlties of the C, & 0, Cansl
enginesr, Philibert Rodder, The above statemsnts, of courae,

are only suppesitionsy however, they may well offer a clue to

the ariginaeticn of Washington's vague connecticn with the 014
Stone House, How such a dietant connection may have boen altered
to became "Washington's Engineering Headquartere while Planning
the City In 1741" it is difficult to say., To repeat, there

exists oo evidence to substantlate this latter c¢laim.
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e havs aeen from orlginal records that duridng the
eritlicel peried of 1791, when the 0ld Stone House would hawve been
used by Washington according to tradition, the atructure was owned
by Mary Smith. It is quite probable that the cwner resided thers
for a number of years. In 1800, the 0ld Stone House was rented
ta John Suter, Jr. for a watchmeker's shop., In 1808, it was again
leased for 10 years to William Clark for hls tailer's shop. The
use subsequent to 1791, of course, does not help tha cld tradition.
It does, however, show that the structure was used by small busi-
nessmen or merchants « & wse which ¢ontinued in later years.

To 11lustrate thls latter conformity in uas, early
Georgetown resident Mra, Alice Glbson who lived acrogs fram the
01d Stone Houme as a child with hear parents Mr, and Mre, William
Collina, remambers that the atructure was used as a small comer=
ela) shop of some kind in 15?&.55 She remembers also playing in
front of the structure with other small children, It is wery
alpgnilicent that Mra, Gibson keenly remembersz that na one ever
thought of the structure as Suter's Tevern, which was located in
some othar part of the cit;r.s6 This is very important because
recent efforts to prove the tradition that Washington and L'knfant
used the house have all rested on ultimately proving the structure

to be Suter!s Tavern.

55, Perscnal Interview with Mra. Alice Gibson, Dec, &, 155l,
56, Ibid,
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An early photopgraph of the structure judged to be ap-
proxinately 1579-1390, shows the following sign on the Old Stone
House, "House Paintlng - Gralining and Glasing." The seccond build-
ing a one-story frame to the east contains a 'Cigar Sture.“ST
This photograph conforms precisely to inlermation supplied in the

Washington Directory which shows that a John M. Stallings, painter,
58

was uging the Old Stane House from 1879 to 1890,
Returning to Mrs. Gibson, this gracious laoy recalled
that while no one called tha 018 Stone House Suter's Tavern,
thers was menticn of the houso as Washington's Headquarters.59
Could this have developed from the fact that Phillbert Iodler,
the engineer who worked on the great Chesapeake and Ohle Canal,
once 1ived in the house and there he may have worked on the plans
which brought about the realizatilon of Washington's early dream
of effecting a continuous water route up the Potomac Vallay,
Traditional stories have dewsloped and expanded on such slight

and distant connections in the past.

G7. Photogrzph of the Old Stone House - with hiastoricel notes,
Georgetown Dranch of D, C. Public Library.

%8, Washington Directories, 18601890, D. C. Public Library.

5o, lonid.
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CHAPTER &

SUTER'S TAVERN

In 1783, John Suter opened the doors of the "Fountain
Tnn" in Georgetown, Here the best in food, drink, lodging, and
enterteinment was enjoyed under the directlon of this genial host
fram Seotlend., His Tavern soon beceme the favorite remdezvous of
local citizens and personalities of nationel importance for beth
pleasurs and businesa,

The Tavern beceme more then & mere house of entertaina
ment. It served regularly as the officis]l meeting place for the
Potomack Canal Company, The Georgetown Bridge Company, the Commla-
aloners of Georgetown, and other business and mmiclpal organiza-
tions.

George Washington, in the years prior to and during his
Presidency, often made the inn of John Suter his "officlal head-
quarters” when stopping in Gecrgetown, Thomas Jefferson, likswlse,
was a regular patran of Suter's, Whlle Minlster to France, he de=
¢lared, "ne man an the Atlantic coast can bring out a better bottle
of Madeira or Sherry than old Suter.

Gf far greater sipnificance, Suter's Tavern may well be
called the birthplace of the Nation's Capital, for it was there
that tho agreement between President George Washington and the
original proprietors of the landes selected for the National

Capital was signed, There Major Pierre Charles L'Enfant palns-

L
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takingly tolled over end completed his origindl plan of the Federsl
City, - There also, the three Federal Comnissicners, appolnted by
President Washington in 1791, estahlished thelr oifice, from whence
they directed the public buliding program and the general develop-
ment of the new Capitel. In the days when the tavern of John Suter
neagted a distinguished list of regular patrens, including such
personages as George Washington, Thomas Jelferson, Plarre L*Dnfant,
and Denjamin Stoddert, 1t was often the scene of events of pro-
found nationgl signllicance.
Washington's Most Unusual ¥ystery

After the death of John Suter in 179L, his widow 3areh
continued to cperate the 1l ustricus "Foumtaln Inn" for one year.
Beginning in 1796, however, the hlstoric structurs pessed into
the hands of others, thereby initilating & peried of successive
operation by several different indivlduals, With the passage of
the originel tavern bullding frem the posseaslion of the Suter
family, there was laid the germ for a seemlngly insoluable
mystery - cne which has intrigued and baffled local histerlans
to this vary time, "ihere was Suter's Tavern located?®™ Thls
wag the mystery, which in spite of the repeated afforty directed
towards ite solution, somehow defled and exasperated Lhose who
laboricusly sought the answor.

How, 1t may be asked, could the locetlon of such a fae
mous etructura become lost in the passape of timel The answer 1s

relatively simple, In Georgetowm during ihe days whien John Suter
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oparated his tavern, it was the custom to nevar mention speclilo
gtreet addresses, In the myriad of references to Suter's Tavern
amld the originsl correspondence of George Washington, the official
records of the Federal Commlssicners, the Potomack Canal Company,
Georgetown Board of Aldermen, snd newapapears the simple phrase
IfSuter'as Tavern" appearad agaln end agaln, This wes all thai was
needed, for everyone knew whers 3uter's was, In Cpet, 1t wag so
well-known that en address would have been superiluous. However,
as time passed, the unifcrm absence of this smell item added to
the disappearance of meny original records of Georgetown provided
the great challenge to local historiand. The fact that Suter
rented his tavern property ratber than owvned it made the task
even more difficult.

The loeation of Suter's Tavern gradually became the
most controversisl subject of local history. & verltable ermy
of persong delved into the records in varying degrees, determined
to settle the mystery for once and all. Hminent historlans were
included among those who became intrigued by this challenge.

Some spent mamy hours going over the voluminous recorda of the
Feders! Commlssioners and other records for clues to this mo et
unusual mystery. In the process, of course, numerous locations
rasvlted and eaeh of these socon found 1ts gupportens, However,

none of the suggested locations could be supported by original

documentary evidence from the perlod in which Suter operated hls
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his tavern. Tha mystery continued.

More recently, one author introduced the thesls that
Suter!s Tavern and the 01d Stone Houss st 3051 M Street wers one
and the smne structure. Such a statement beared careful investi=-
gation, It was soon discovered that the whole traditlon of the
01d Steme House as "Washington's Headquerters" and "L'Enfant'a
Surveying Office” depended upon proving that the 02d Stone House
was also the original Suter's Tavern buollding.

A strenucuns effort wes made to determine the actual lo—
eation of Suber!'s Tavern. On such a dlsputed point there could he
no ellowance Tor error, It was fully realized that the orlginal
locetion had to be supported by orlginal decumentary evldence in
order to bs mccepted, Up until this time none of the previous
locationg offered had been accampanisd by such evidance. In under-
taking such A search, & historian is often required to use every
peasible approach,

Title records of numercus original Georpetown lota were
thoroughly sesrched, The complete recerds of real estate trans-
actions of certain Georgetown citlzens were studled from the
oripinal Montgamery County Land Records. Varlous depositories
uf Georgetosn records in Washington, Amapalis, Md., and as far
dlstant as Boston were ssarched for material bearing cn. the 0ld

S5tone House and Subter's Tavern.
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During thls time, conmslderable informatlon on the history
of Suter's Tevern was compiled, Clrcumstantial evldence atrongly
indicated that the Old Stone House could never have been Suter's
Tavern. A partial inventory of Jebn Suter's Tavern equipment
alone contained many mare items than could hawe been adequately
accommodated in the Old Stone House,.t However, tbe search went
on for that written evldence from orlginal records of the peried
in which Suter operated hls tavern, which would prove the correet
location.

Relatively early in the search, the biography of Jolm
Suter, written by his descendent Mary D. Suter, was located in the
Wachingtoniana section of the D, C, Public Library, Concerning
the location of her ancestor's tavemrn, Mary Suter stated:

It was this long, low bullding (Suter's

Tavern) at what is now ths Nerthwest corner of

vater and Congress St. (31st) Street, that

Waohington purchased the site for the Capital.

Tn later ysars it became an oyster house and a

resteurant, but in early days it was the last

proud word In "Tavern keeping." This was WSuter's

Tavern," the lfamous hostelry of George Washingtom,

Jefferson, and all the other stetesmen who Jjourned

over the miseratls road that led from their homes
to Philadelphia, then the temporary Capital avsl

T, Hontgomery County Will Hecords, Liber C folio 182, the
Inventory of John Suter, dated December 23, 179h.

2. Mary D, Suter, "Biography of John Suter," Washingbaniana Secw
tior. Dlstrict of Columbia Public Library.
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The location for Suter's Tavern as glven by Mary D, Suter
carzﬁéponds identically to the present-day northwest corner of K and
3lst Streets 1n Georgetown and was once a part of orlpinal lot &8
of Peter's Square in old Georgetowns”  Although Mary Suter's state-
ment was not accompanied by documentary evlidence, it will be shown
how thig author uwltimately tmearthed the original documentary aviw
dence to prove that the original Suter's Tavern was located at
thiz same aorthwest corner of present-day K and 31st Streets in
decrgetoum,

For some time after the above alte for Suter’s Tavern

wes noted, sulllcient dotumentery evidence which would preve

3. Case No, 8873, Records of the District Title Company, Aashington.,
D. Cy3 the original plat of Georgetown; Baiste Heal Estate Surveys
of Washingbon, D. G, A careful study of early Georzetoun maps inm

dicatez that thoe present northwest corner of K and 31at Strsets was

cnca part of original lot 68, and that the street names had been
changed several times, Ths lMinutes of the Gecorgetown Comnissioners

show that lot 68 was firat purchased by John Cooke on Harch 2, 1752,

1t was acquired by Robert Peter im 1700 and apparently improved a

short time later with a substantial dwelling. In the orlginal plat

of Gaorgefoum, this huge lot was bounded on the northwest cormer by

Wapping Street on the ascuth and Fishinp Lane on the east., By 1799

Canseway Street had been cut through just south of the above corner

and Fishing lane had been changed toc Congress Street. S5till later,

the Busgsard Map of 1830 shows Causcway Streat had been changed to
huter 3trest, which ran all along the Georgetown waterfront to Rock

Crsek, Water Street later became X Street in modern Georgetown, and

Congress Strast became 3lst Street. The Water Street mentianed

herein ran in an easti-west directicn and is entirely differemt from

that part of Wisconsin Avenue wiich ran socath from ¥ Strest to K

Street and which was known also ag Watar Street in the enrly days

of fLeorgetown - prior to 1830, The map study of this locaticn 1s

fully substantisted by the lepgal title to lot T2 whiech was that
part of cripinal lot 58 bounded by K and 31st Streasts in Georgetewn
or Watur and Congresa stresets as the location wss ramembered by

Mary Suter,
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the location falled to appear, However, just as anothar Idstorian
was about to join the army of searchers who had glven up hope of
finding the location, new information was wmecovered,

In a search for sarly photographs of Georgetown struc-
tures at the Prints and Photographic 3ection of the Library of
Congresss, a certaln unusual photograph was discovered among an
old miscelianecus collection. It was a photograph of a wery old
building bearing the signe "Oysters" an both the scuth and east
g#ldes of the structura, Immediately, e razponsive chord was
struck, as it was remambarsd thet orlginel records showed that
Suterts Tn;ern had become an Oyster House in later years, On

July 8, 1803, the Washington Federalist announced tbe raopening

el the building "late the Fountain Inn" by Gearge Pitt, formerly

proprietor of the Eagle Tavemn, who now hangs out the aign of the
Minchor Tavern and Cyater House.uh Five ysars laster, Pl{t amounced
that he was still occupying the same Anchor Tavern where Oystez
suppers could be had for 62% cents aach.5 Jearge Pitt operated hls
Cystar House in the original SJuter's Tavern building until his

death 1in 1315.5 Ihen Mary Suter spake of the Tavern in her
reminiscences she also spoke of ita later use as an oyatar house

and restanrant,

Lo Washincton ifederalist, July 8, 1803, Tneé "Fountaln Inn® men-
tioned in this announcement was the orlginal Suteris Tavern
building,

5. Alexandria Gamette, October 12, 1808, p. 3.

&, Oliver endell Holmes "The Fountain Inn arfter the Suter's left.®
i, liobaes, well-known awnthority on Geargetowm history, has made
& careful study of the individuals who ogperated the "Fountain InnM
after the Suters had left and confirma that George Pitt's Oystear
House was located in the original Sutar's Tavern building from
1803-1.616,
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yith the abeve thoughta in mind the photograph of the
structurs was carefully examined. It now more and more began to
100k like the kind of a bullding you would expect "Suter's Tavern”
to be, It was s rather low 2-story building, and it was evident
there were an ample number of rooms. It appseared to be approxi-
mately twice the siza of the Old Stone House, lwhen the photograph
was turned over, there on the back, in ald but bold penmanshlp
were the words "Suter's Tavern," Could this photograph, mcovered
by chance, be the real Suter's Tavern? laa it the long-lost clue
to the location?

It was evident that the structure in the photograph
was standing on a north-west corner, Did not Mary Suter state that
her illustrious encestor's tavern had been on the north-west cors=
ner of Conigress and Water Streets, #n examinaticn of this sita,
now the comer of K and 31st Streets in Georgetown, was made, With
photograph in hand, this suthor walked scuth across K Street and
then looked back to the north-west corner, which was vacant and
encloged by the fencing around the grounds of the District of
Columbia Georgetown Incinerator Plant, which was constructed
there 1n 1932, There appeared the immediate and unmistalkzble
physical resemblancs between this present-dey corner and the
photograph, Upon a closer examination, the ahsolute ldentification
becams apparent, for in the photograph the roof of & large structure

could be gem to the rear of the tavern bullding., Standing on
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the approximate positlon from which the photograph had been taken
ona could ses the rear upper roof of this sams structure - GCrace
Eplscopal Church just as it appeared to the rear of the tavern
building in the photograph.

Here was unmistakebles proof that the structura depicted
in the photograph as Sutar's Tavern had &t an earller date ectual-
1y stood on the exact site given for the tavern by John Suter'a
descendent Mary D, Suter, This location was the narth-wast
corner of Alat and K 5trests in Ceorgetown.

Faurther examination of the photograph revealed that the
Nfop sale® sign on the building bore the name George W, Linkina.

Tn searching the title of this property {(Case No. 8873 - Records

of the District Title Company}, it was learned that George .
Linkins, son of the above, acquired the property in 150l and sold
1t 4in 1907. George W. Linkins' real estate office was located at
BOO 19th Street, W. W., fram 1886-1911, Thls same address appears
an the "for sale’ sign in the photopraph, indicating that the
ploture was takan some time between 1885 and 1911, 1If the bulld-
ing in the photograph proved to be Suter’s Tavern, this would
mean that thils historie structure may yet have been etanding
in 1911, unknown to tne growlng army ol searchers who wWere then
trying to "find" Suter's Tavorn.

There was now the statement of Mary D. Suter and a

photograph of o structure called Suter's Tavern., Both focused



upon the game location, The fact that the structure was called
an Oyster House further fitted imtc the story that was beginning
to wnfold., It was quickly remembered that in 1608 George Plti, who
wag then using the ariglnal Suter's Tavern building aa an Oyster
House under the name of the Anchor Tavern, advertlsed that from his
Tavyern « » » 20 extensive view of that beautlful 1sland belonging
to General John Mason could be hed,’ This statement eorresponded
to the site on the north-west corner of K and 31lst Streets, as 1t
15 almost directly scross from that same island which 13 today
known as the Theodors Roosewelt Island, The above facts seemed
to logically point to this site as the orlelnal lecation, However,
could this be alsc supported by evidence from original records?
During an exhaustive search through land records of
Frederick and Montgomery Countles and the Bax assessment records,
of Ceorgetown, that precious plece of original evidence, in the
form ol a direct written reference f£o Suter's Tavern in the year
1793 was [inally discovered, 7The earliest Tax Book of Georgotown
now oxtent gt the Montgamery County Office building revesled an
acpesament against Feter Cassanave, important Ueorgetown cltizen
and one-time Mayor. In describlng the location of a house for

which he wan being essessed, there wes written "opposite Suter's

Tmmmh"ﬂ

Te Alezandria Cazetbe, Uctober 12, 160, p. 3.
8, iccount of Lots and Houses in leorgetown Assesament Dook
1793-1797, lontgomery County Qiiice Building, Rockville, !de
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The remaining task was te determine preclsely which lots
in Ceorgetown were owned by Peter Cassanave during the time 1n which
John Suter operated his tavern. This involved a thorough search of
Cassanave's real estate transactions as found in the land Records of
¥ontgomery County and the early records of the District of Columbila,
{neluding complete title searchas on numerous properties, The comple-
tion of this detailed study revealed that in 1793 Peter Cassanave owned
original lots 13, 41, 11, and lots B and 1 on the south side of Camseway
Street.g A careful inspection of the first four lots with respect to
ehein of ownership and history of the structures located thereon, apd a
similar study of the properties located oppusite to them revealed ne
infarmation concerning John Suter or Suter's Tavern.

Lot 1 on the scuthwest corner of Causeway and Fishing Lane
{(later ¥ and 31st Streets) proved, however, to be a far diffenent story.
fassanave's ownerehin of lot 1 centimed for some time, ard his heirs
were stlll asssssad for it in 1807 and 1815 as proven by the recently
discovered Gaorgetown mssessment books for those years.lﬂ This lot
and house was located directly scross from ths exact location on whlch

Mary D, Suter had stated that her ancester's tavern stood and

3, Montpomery Gounty Land Records; Liber D, follo 2L1; Liber D, follo
?h:i Liber D, folio 35L3 Ceorpetown Assesment Buoks 1753 = 1191,
kvllla 'EH., Georpatcwn'ﬁssessnent Books, 1000 — IBDT and 1815,

District uf Columbia HRecords.

10, .Georget.>en Assesanent Pooks, 1B00 - 1807; 1R15; District of Columbia
Facords. 1THe volumes wers among the small numbers of recently
discovered Georgetown records located for many years among the early
District of Columhia Hecords in the basement of the District Bullding.

These records were inspected in 1955 by Mr. Daniel Noll of the District

Government, Mr. Oliver Wendell Holmes of the National Archlves, and
this author represzenting the National Park Service.
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on which the structure noted aa Suter's Tavern in the recently
discovered photopraph was located.ll This was the northwest
cornar of X and 3lst Streets or Causeway and Congress Streets as
it wes known in 1793. At lasi, original documentary evidence

deseribing Cassanave's property as belng "opposite to Suter's®

coincided with the facts as glven by Hary D, Suter and the
physical and historlcal evldence surrounding the captloned
photograph of "Suter's Tavern' tc prove beyond any doubt that
the oripginal Suter's Tavern waa located on the northwest corner
of the present-day interaection of K and 3lgt Streats, in
Georgatowm.

Such a logakiom, of course, Fitted perfectly into
the story of Suter’s Tavern, for it was bub a short diatance
from the ferry acrosgs the Potomack over which ths many travelers
pagsed to and (rom Virginla, It alse placed John Suterts
®Fountain Inn" on the sarliest sasb-wysst business artery of
Georgetown leading to the bridge over dock Creck locnted at
the east end of Causeway (K) Etraﬂt.lE This s¢ convenlently
coinclded with the descriptions of the early {ravelera who
pasged Suler'a Tavern after coming over the Caussway Sirect
bridge. Il is quite evident now that these travelers would
not ordinarily have passed the Old Stone House on Bridge 5trast

since axtant records of the Georgetown Commigsioners show that

11, Georgetown Assessnment Book, District of Golumbia Hecords.
12, Minutes of the Georgetown Gommissioners, 1751-1801, MSS.
Uiv., Library of Congress.
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as late as 1B00 no bridge over Rock Creek had been constructed at

the vagt end of Bridge Etreet.13

The repeated newspaper annouUNCa-
ments of George Fitt, later propristor of the tavern, uhicﬁ de-
seribed the tavern building in which he had his oystar house as
being acrogs from Mason's Ialard mlso simllarly pointed to the
location of Suterts Tavern which has alrsady been proven beyond
doubt by orlglnal documentary evlidence.

The olt-repeated question "Where was Suterts Tavern
1ocated?" need no longer be askeds AL last, original extant
documentary evidence has bean found — evidenca which, after
critical analysis, provea that tha historic Suter's Tavern waa

1scated st the present northwest corner of K and 31st Streets,

in Georgetawn.

13. Ibid.

1, The evidence by which the solutien to the mystery of the locaticn
of Suter's Tavern was determined was based primarily on the critl-
cal historicel evaluatian of the followlng original decumentary
sources, perzonal reminiscences , photopraphic and physicel evidence
of the site, and original historical records concerning the site
and later proprietors ol the " Fountain Inn." These important
sources are listed below in this order.

(a) Account of Lots and Houses in Georgstown, hssessnent Book,
1793-1727, the Tax Assessor's Office, County Office Bullding,
fockville, Md.3 Georgetown Assessment Book, 1815, Early records of
the Distrlct ol Columbla,

(b) Mary D. Suter, "Biography of John Suter," Washingtoniana Section
of the District of Columbis Library, Washingbenm, D. C.

{(¢) Original photograph of the structure named “Suter’s Tavern®™ un-
govered by this author. This photograph correspands to the exast
gite which is given by and supported by the ahowve documentary sources
and personal reminiscences, In additlon, the photograph corresponds
to the evidence pertalning to the later use of the Suter's Tavern
building by George Pitt and the location as noted by Pitt in the
washington Federalist of July B, 1803. ILastly, examlnation of the

photograph and the present aite of the north west corner aof st
and X Streets in Georgetown prova both to be identlcal,
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Tha correct location of Suter's Tavern now completealy
proves the falsity of the thesis which maintained that the 0ld
Stone House on M Street was Suter's Tavern. However, the actual
solution and finding of the original locaticm poaseases far more
gignificance than merely proving the negativity ol the claim oFf
the 01d Stone Houss and other spurious locations to the fame of
Suteris Tavarn, This bhistorical investigation has salwved tha
mystery which hae challenged local historians and scholars in
allied fields for slmost a century. By msans of critlcal his-
torical analysis and evaluation of evldence, the answer to that
mystery has been successlully determined.

It 1= with a deep peraomal satisfactiom that this
historian offera the answer to that moat comtroversial subject
of Washington local history - the lecation of Suter's Tavern.
A1l that we know about the fame and naticnal slgnificance of
Suter's Tavern can now be told with a more fervent and intimate
pasning, For we now know exactly where thls hilstorde structure

once ztood in old Osorgetown.



CHAPTER T

OLD GEQRGETCWN

At a time which may never be known, Indiana established
the village of Tohoga near the site of present-day Georgatowm.
Increasing evidence peems to indleate that the first Inropeans to
axplors the Potopac river as far as this asite were the Spanish.
For many yearg prior to English exploration of the srea, Spmnlards

had sailed up the Potomag or the Esplritu Santo as they called it,

reaching at lsast as far as the present aits of the District of
Columhin.l
However, the first known white man to ascend the river
paat the vlllage of Tohoga to Little Falls was Caphain Henry
F’J.aat..z Captain Flset was a mamber of & party which sailed from
Jamestown in the fall of 1621 in search of corn for the sufferers
of the Jamestown famine, Whan tha anxious group under the command
of Spliman reached the vicinity of Tohoga in thelr pinnace, the
Tiger, & landing party was sent ashore, The group waa suddenly
gurrounded and savapgely attacked by the Anacostan Indlans and all
were killed except Flest.? His 1ife spared, Fleet was held captive
by the Anacostans for many years, He learned thelr lanpuage and

cugtome . almogt forgatting his own, He was eventually ransomed

i, Hugh Taggert, "0ld Ueorgetown®, Records of Columbla Historical
Smiﬂt!, ?ﬂl. II, Pp' 122"‘23.

2 Ibidl, PFs 3]4""35'
3, Tpid,

&5
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and returned o his native England, where his wonderful tales of
1ife among the American red men enthralled the English pecple. In
1632, he returned to Tohoga and set up trade with the Indiana. Two
yeers later in 163k, the first Iord Baltimore discovered him living
comfortatly among the Indians is the village of Pisuuttmway.h

At the beginning of the eighteenth century, the British
Crown made iend grants to certain individuals and o small number of
these settled near the future zlte of Osorgetown. As esarly as 1703,
there wag a trading poat on the west sida ol Rock Ureak at 1lts
sunction with the Potomac river, which was callsd “Saw Pit Landing, "
1n that same year, Ninlan Beall obtained his patent of the'Rock of
Dumbarton," a tract of same 705 acres, & short time later, George
Gordon took up his land grant, In 1Bh?; Gordon bullt a tobacco
inspecticn house upon his land on the west bank of Rock Creek,
This inspeotion house or "Rolling Housa" a3 1t was called becama
the seed from which the future town was to grnv.ﬁ From fapr in
the back country the great casks of tobacco lumbered over the
Rolling Hoads to Gordon's inspection house, The casks served
55 both containers and wheels since they had an axis through the
center and shafts for mem, horass, oI OXen,

There was also a ferty which crossed the Fotomac river

at Georgetown, There are references to this ingtitution as early

=
H

Tohm L. Bozman, the nistory of Maryland during Virst Three
Years after It5 Settlement, Balt.: 1811, ppe 270-271.

. Taggm, EE- EE-, P» 155*
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as the 1'i'3!2‘!':'...r According to Mr, Oliver W, Holmea, the existence
of a ferry and & tobacco inspection houss 1n the Chesapealte Tide-
water civilization of that time wes sufficient incemtive for a
Third tnstitution, & house for public entertainmant.B In Hovemher
of 1747, the Court for Prince George's County records a llcanse
isgued for the operation of & tAvern at the mouth of Rock Creek.’
The requisites were Mulfilled and an increasing settlement deval-
oped near the broad mouth of Rock Creek.

New disturbances in Scotland in 1745 brought many new
imm grants to the Maryland colony, and same of them found their
way to the growlng little settlement ground George Jordon's
WRolling House.' This predominantly Scottish commrity was
growing into a busy little village. On May 15, 1751, the Mary-
land Provincial Assemhly locked with faver upon the petitlen of
the local residents and authorized the establishment of George

Town on the Potomack river above Rock Greek.lﬂ

The newly ap-
pointed Commissiomers of George Town were impowered by the act of
the Maryland Asserbly to purchase sixty acres of land belonging
to George Gerdon and George Beall, The Commissioners chose
Alexandar Beall to survey and lay out the new toun into eighty

luta.ll Both Gordon and Besll at first refused to sell thelr

T, Oliver W, Holmes "ine Uolonial Taverns of Georgetown" Records
of the Columbia Historical Soclety, Vol. 51-52 Washington, D. C.
1955; Da 2.
B' M-; Pl 3-
9, Ibld.
10, Hinutes of thz Georgetown Lommlssioners, District of Columbia
Records, M3S. Div,, Library of Congress, p. 1.
11. 1lbid.
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land; however, they were farced to comply with the act of the
Maryland Assembly. It ia not definitely known whether the towm's
name was chosen in honor of King Gecrge or to pacify the ruffled
feelings af the two men upon whose land the town was founded,

4t the tima of the origlnal platting of the town in
1751, the }ittle village was already a thriving community on the
fringe of the western settlement. While George Town was yet in
1ts formative years, the lucrative pursults of trade wers upper-
mogt in the minds of its eltigens. One such enterprising merchant
was Robert Peter, who opened his "Rock Creek Store" in 1752, Hr,
Peter, who later became the first meyor of George Town, was &also
the agent of the lfamcus firm of John Glassford and Company, of
North Britain, which monepolized most of the Potomac river tobacco
trade.l2

In 1762, the Commissioners sutherized the construction

of a wharf at the end ol Water Streat.l3

Trade ceoptinued to de-
velop, Ocean going ships from distant shores made George Towm &
port of call., Iocally owned ships left George Town heavily laden
with tebaceco, that precious cargo which was the 'meat, drink,

elothing, and money of the cclonists,®

12, Fapgart, op. cit. pp. 16750,
13, Minutes of the Georgetown Commissloners, op. £1t., Vol, 1, p. 39-
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By 1765, all of the original eiphty lots of Georgé Town
were purchased and arrangements were made for furthsr additlons to
the touh.lh Purchasors of lots in the new additions were urged
to acquire thelr deeds before the Stamp Act becams effective. The
regtrictive acts of the British Parliament were already the cause
of much concern in George Town and through the State of Maryland,
The Maryland Gazetts stopped publication because of the Stanp Act
and gave the following notlce: "The times are dreadful, dismal, doleful,
doloroug, and Dnllar-Leas.“15
it the cutbreak of the American Revolution, the population
of George Town consisted of 433 parsons, of which B2 wora slaves.lﬁ
During the war years, the trade of George Town suffered greatly.
However, regardless of personal loss, the vast majority of cltlzens,
including ita leading merchants stood for independence. Tha
Britigh Golonial Office at Downing Street in London received the
following report from & confldent:
“The temper ¢f the lsading men in Maryland still
continues to he pulded by 2 splrit of rancour and
violence. They appear confident of succeeding In
the favorite scheme of independence, and of estahliahe

ing thelr own importance on the rulns of the 2ritieh
Constitution." 17

il,. ‘e Maryland Gazstte, Uct, 10, 1765, p. 3.
15, “ayyiand Ganctis, Dot 31, 1765, pe L.
16, 177 Consus for Frederick County, (eorgstown hundred Box 2, Folder §,
He'Li of Records, Amnnapolis, Md,
17. wlepset of a letter from Mr, Eddis to Former Covernmor Eden of
N, Y., Julv 23, 1777« Public Hecpord 0ffice: London Colonial
Office 5 Vol, 722 MSS. Div, (16T




However, the British scldiers found the Maryland shopkeepers,
tradesmen, and farmers equally as wling to fight for thelr
freedam, Many George Towm citizens foupght wvaliantly on the field
of battles The following interesting account of George Town dur-
ing the Revolutionmary War was made by William Wirt in his Recol-
lections, 1775-80t
.« « » I passed a winter in Osorgs Towm and

remember sesing a lang 1ine of wagong croass the

river cn the ice, I conjecturs that it was the

winter 1779=00 and that these wapons were attached

to the Troops which were going souths I remember

also to have seen a gentleman Mr. Peter, going out

gunning for canvasbacks ... which I have seen 1n

those days whitening the Potomac and which when

they arose, a3 they sometilmes did, for a halfl

mlle Sogether, produced a sound llks thunder.lﬂ

When independence was won Lhe men of George Town returned
home with new hopes For happiness and prosperity, unhampered by the
many Royal rTestrictions which had helped to bring about the Amerl-
zan Revolution., There were also new faces ammg the local resi-
dentamen such as Denjamin Stoddert who wes to become a grest ahip-
ping merchant, For Major Stoddert and others had dscided that
Gearge Town offered mors oppertunity than even Baltimore,

Until George Touwn's later incluslon within the District
of Columhin, Stoddert's expectations seemsd to be well founded.
For after the revolution, Goorge Town's commercial intarests
entera; 8 period of great expansion. The town was incorporated

" in 1789 as the city of George Town, Real estate speculation was

stimulated with such citizens as Robert Peter aequiring innumerable

18, John G. Proctor "Uld Ceorge Town and 1ts Barly Settlers!
washington Star, Dec, 7, 1930.
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town lots and nearby country tracts, By 1785 all of the original
George Town lots had bean lmproved and other additions had beem
started. Along with proaperity came & bit of inflation, In 1777
Judah Boone purchased four George Town lota for 800 pounds. One
year later on June 6, 1780, he sold the same four lots to Petar
Astan for TOOO pounds, realizing 6200 pounds on the initial invest-
ment, In 1751, President George Washingtan called the town the
greatest tobacco market of the State, if not of the Unlon,

In addition to the flourishing tobacco trade, flour
from the George Town mills found 1ts way to forelgn ports. Impor-
tant roads converged on George Town from Hladensburg, Frederick
town, end Fairfax county. Shortly after 1771, a road was con-
structed to Little Falls where the {lrat Chaln bridge was com-
p1etad.19 Over thesze reoads and into George Town rumbled four
and six horse Coneatoga wagons, heavily laden with farm produce
for tha local market. Both loreign and local ships crowded the
harbor and their activity was often watched by & silent figure in
the upstairs room of his George Town mansion. As he placed his
telescops upon a table, Benjamin Stoddert falt that he had mde the
right declsicn in ssttling in thls bustling towm an the banls of
the Potomack,

in 1785, the Potomack Canal Cowmpany was organized with
Georpe Washington as its first Preaident and George Towa looked

to a great expansion of trede with the western sectivas. <The

i, Lnureace U'Brien, "An Old City's Histery," Mashington Star,
July. &b, 1878,
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heights of the town were already dotted with the homes of prosper-
oud merchantz, On December 28, 1793, the first Bank in the area
was chartered with an initial capltal stock of ons milllon dellars,
reflecting the growing wealth of the community.

During the days of the old Potomack Compamy, flat bottomed
"gondolas! brought in many shipments of furs, lumber, and flour, and

20

farm produce to the Geerge Town wharves, This western trade ex-

tended as far as Fort Osage on the Missourl river, to Lake Erle,
and to thila.21 Reflecting the importance of the fur trade alane,
the United States Governmont established an Indlan Trade Office in

Georgetown, In 1809, the Washington Federallst reported that up-

wards of LJ0OO raecoon skina would be sold in a single day.

Although Geerpge Town's commerclel importance continued to
expand after the turn of the nineteenth century, the town's eventual
commercial decline was already assured when it was included in the
pripginal area selected for the new Federal District, As early as
1800 many of the merchants who had leng cperated stores in George
Town were moving to new lecations in Washington city, nearer to
the public bulldings.

Iife in 0ld George Town wWas not all business, For al-
though the taverns were the centers of privats and mmicipal bugi=
ness transactiona, they werse alsc the gathering places for the
George Town citizens and the centers of a mmbust and lusty life.

The most famous vavern of all was Suter's Wountaln Inn,' begain in

20, hopers W, Young Lhe Uhesapesks and Ohlo Laral and the Antebellum
Conmeree_of 0ld Georpsteown, Wabtional Park Scervice Study, January
l‘}rhﬂ', P 2-

21. ragpart vp. cii., pp. 161-2,
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1783 by John Suter. A favorite rendezvous ol all the well-known
local citizens and such naticnal figures as Thomas Jefferson,
George Washington, and Plerre L'Enfant, Suter's Tavern might
well be c¢alled the birthplace of the Nation’s Capltal. A closer
1look into the history of thls colorful taverm has been covered
previouely.

Before the Revolutionary War, the fashionable residential
gection of Qeorpetown had centered about the strest known as
Cherry Alley. This sectlon, whore beauty and art relgned, was
the Court end of tha town, Its quaint two-story houses were
bullt of brick imported from England, After 1790, the growing
interest in the development of the Federal City shified emphasis
tc Bridge Strest, which beceme the princlpal avenus of approach
to the National Capital from the surrounding States of the young
rapublic.22 In additlon to business establishments of all kinds,
theres were numerous [ine residences and & church on Eridge Street
by 1782, The 01d Stona House, bullt in 1766, on orlginsl lot 3
wan ane ol the sarliest houses conslructed onh thils gtrest,

The original acﬁ of 1751 wiich authorimed the laying out
of CQeorge Town, also provided that the Commissioners of the town sat
agide time for twe annusl "falrs! 10 be held in the spring and in

the fall.23 These colorful Pfairs" lasted for three days and

22, Iiobert Nelson, YHistorical Skeich of M Street"™ March 21, 1950.
23+ Tagpart, op. cit,, p. 163,



brought visitors into the town, Inna and boarding houses overflowed
with pecple and the apirit of galety and merriment pervaded the whola
tcam. There were special sales, games of chance, races, theatrical
performances, and dancing assemblles. The coffers of George Towm
merchants were ususlly much richer [eliowing ome of the annual

falrs. During the "[air® all persons within the bounds ol the town
had the privilege of being [res from arrest, except for a serlous

felony or breach of the peaca.zh

For the beneflt of those coming
from afar, this freedom from arrest was to continue in force one day
before and vne day sfter the "fair."

In genersl, however, the laws of George Town were rather
strict, So strict, in fact, that once the town clerk becams in-
volved in his financial obtligations end wae hastily thrown 1in the
debtor's prison, This important public afficlal languished untll
his succeascr wes chosen and his friends made good his shortage
and debts.

In the early years, the people of George Town derived
groat amssement from horse racing, cock-Iighting, mmting, cards,
and -:1.-;:-:c:j.11g..25 Thera was an undenlable fcndness of the people
for rum and sugar, the ordinary tipple. By 1769, the George Toum
toce track was a [lourishing Institution in the toun.zﬁ

Dancing assembliss, which were held 1n the local taverns,
were very popular with George Town residents. Shortly after the

revolution, the "George Town balls" became the notable soclal

2L, Ibid,
25. Taggart, op. cit., pa 16k.
26, Lbid,
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events attended by a mora exclusive social circle. These balls ac-
quired such popularity that rlch lané proprietors of Marylend and
Virginia and thelr families came regularly to take part in the

2T During President Jeffers

highlights of George Town hospltality.
gon's tims Sir Augustus Foster, the Eritish Minister ssserted that
thera was no lack of handsome ladles forthe balls in George Toun
and that he never saw prettier glrls anywhera.?a

With the arrival of the Federal Government in Washington
in 1800, many high officials who were used to the courtly society
and cenfortable living of Philadelphia came to the new capital in
gearch of housing., Washington offered little; however, they found
Georgetown much to thelr liking. Thus Georgetown of 1800 becems
the court end of officla) as wall as sovcial life of the £||rea|.a|..?§I1

By the close of the eighteenth century, Cecrgetonm was
more than just & business and soclal center, It was the center of
s Mstinctive culiture based upon an Intellestua) and moral awaken-
ing of its citizens, Churchea dotted the landscape, varlous
courges of instruction were olfered, newspapers were published,
and a Collsge hed been founded, By 1795, the congregationa of
the First Prasbyterian Church and the lioly Trinity Catholic
Church were growing fast, and the Episcopal Church was under con=

struction, The frat marrlage recorded at the Holy Trinity Ghurch

took place on April &, 1795,

37, Bamel G, Dupey Pictures of the City of Washington in the Pash
Washingten, D. ©, 1898, p. 331.

08, Mackall S. Somervell Early Days of Washington, Wash. 1899, pp.lb=h7.

29, Buscy, op. eite, pe 3307 77 T T T

30, H. P. Jackson, Chronicles of George Town, p. 1L0O.




Home of Francls 3cott Key frem an original etching by A. F. Mettel.



Although Geargetown College wes founded 1in 1789, the
claasés were not commenced until 1791, In Hovember of that year,
wWilliam Gaston, the firat student to enter the new college arrived
in Georgetown only to [ind that the acedemy was still not ready.31
The young lad who hed journeyed fram Philadelphla stayed at the
Tavern ol Joseph Semmea "at the sipgn of the Ureen Tree in the mrin
gtreet of the Town! for almost three wesks.’> On November 22,
1791, he climbed the hlll to the new callege, where he wms BooD
joined by other students including Oeorga and David Peter; scna
of Robert Peter and Banjamin Stoddert, Jr,, son of the firat
Secretary of the any;jB By the beglnning of 1792, & regular
program of studies was being carried on in the college founded by
Bishop John Carroll. From the earliesi times, the college re-
ceived the respect and admirstion of local citizens. In 1795 a
local paper reported "That fram every ascent, and in every vale,
George Town will affect the imaginetion in presenting new
beanties, Its towsring College adorming 2 hlll only wanting
such an sdifice to justily all ths celebration in the power of

lenguags to bestou."3h As the yeara wore on, the venerable

J1, Rev, Jom M. Laley, SeJ, WGeorgetosn College' Ihe rirst Fifty
Years” a Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of Georgetown
Unlversity for degres of Doctor of Philosoply 1553, Vol, 1, p. 83.

12, Ibid.

33, Ibid-, Pa 9T,

al,, Impartinl Observer and Washingtan Advertiser, July 31, 1795, p. 87.




edueeatione]l institutlon spread the fame of George Town [ar and
wlde, long after the commercial glory of the town had languished,
The theater alse¢ played a vital part in the cultural
life of George Town from the early times., Numerous traveling
compenies performed in the local taverns, Thelr offerings ran
the gamut of imagination but there wag stromg evldence that
Shakespearean drama Was much appraciated by George Towners. Mr.
HeGirath's Company of Commedians were long-time faworites of the
town. ©On the evening of June 6th, 1795, the new George Town
theater opened, featuring a favorlte comedy farce under the
charge of Mr. Ii:Gmth.35 Local audiences were qulick to applaud
the clever feats of the actorsy however, it seems that they were
Just a3 wvocal and active In expressing thelr displeasure at ine
aulting or deprading performances. In 1790, the Manager of the
Alexandria theater was warnsd that 1f his actors did not slevate thelr
performances, "they shall find there are such things as oranges,
oggs, hard apples, and other mlssile instruments of vangaance.“36
In additlon to theatrical performances, musical cons
certs were quite popular, In 1796, nearly all of the mslcals
and concerts were presented at Mrs. Doyle'a Long Room, Mr.
Jungbuth, the calebrated Uassoon and elsrinst artist perlormed

there t: a large attendance on HMay 1., 1?95.3?

35, columbian Chronicle, June 2, 1795, p. 3.
36. Alexandria Gazetle, August 5, 1790, p. 2.
37, Golumbian Ghrnn:l.cla, May 12, 1795, p. 1.
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A constbant source of danger to the welfare of the com-
minity was the threat of fire. 3inc¢e there were nc fira companies
in the town prior to 1803, protection depended solely upon the
mutual assistance of neighbors. A raging fire broke out on High
Street in Georgetown on Sunday morhing. September 25, 1?96.38 Tha
blaze, which completely destroyed elght housss, would hava been
aven more disastrous hed it mot been for the united actleon of the

citizens and the mild weather of that da.;r.39

The wery next month
n destructive Iire consumed the dwelling houss of Mr. J. Laird.hﬂ
The next year on November 1%, 1797, firs broke out on the second
Moor of 01d South bullding of George Towm Collsge, The spesd with
which the local ¢itizens rushed to the aid of the college demon-
strated well thelr attachment to that lnstitution. Tha cpllege
faculty and studerts publicly acknowledged thelr debt to the local
eltizans for the "kind and active assistance they received from
them in ths tremendous disaster which threztened thelr hame with
total destruction,*!

Orficial fire protection cams te the commnity in the
year 1503, when & fire caﬁpan;,r wag formed and a [ire engine pur=

chaged by public subscription.’?

Thers wazs a sigh of rellef
among the local citizens when the town possessed a fire engine

al1l its own, As a further precaution against filre, a night watch

39. Ibid.

0. Washington Gazette, October 12, 1796, p. 3.

b1, Taley, Rev. John M, "Georgetown Collegei The Firat Filfty Yearall
one clt., p. 123.

h2. Re P. Jackson, op. cit., p. 10L.
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brigade was formed in 1F.’S~ZI_'I.»l13

Theae watchmen, with staves and
lanterns, patrolled the streets at night, calling cut the hour and
the state of the weather, The original Vigllant Firehouse, which
is yet standing at 1066 Wiscongin Avenue, was bullt in 1817, and
houged a voluntear fire-fighting brigade.

Although officlal police protection was rather slow in
coming to Oeorgetown, the town boasted the only jall in lower Hant-
gomery county for many ysars, TIhe George Town jall, or Debtor's
prison as it was acmotimes called, was bullt shortly after the lay-
ing out of the town. The flrst known priscners of the Ceargetoun
jail were Michael and Matthew Dulaney who were charged with setting
fire to & Tobacco warehouse, a helnous crime 1n such a tobacco
center as ﬂaurget.aun.hh They were pleced in irons and speclal
guards watched them for the prison was not considered to be the
safeast place of confinement for dangerous criminals. Although
the Georgetown Jajl may have been a deterrant to certaln potential
law breakers, in 1791 such "notorious offenders as John Duffy and
his gang of robbers wers terrerizing c¢itizens on the road from
Gsorgetown to Alexandria."™5 In 1795, the Georgetown Cormlasioners
authorized that the sum of $2 be paid to a ccnstable for his back
pay covering 1792 and 1793. In 17539, the town boasted two cone
stables and each received $30 annual salary, In 1805, s bill
author’:ing the appointment of toun constables was passed by the

{eorgetown Doard of Aldermm.hﬁ

T3 Henry K. Evans, OLd Georpetown on the Potomac, Wash: Georgetown
News, 1933, p+ 19.

Iy, Original Document comtitting a prisonsr to jaill snd 8 newspaper
clipping, The Peatody Collection: Gsorgetown Public Library,

5. George Town Weekly Ledger, August 6, 1791, pe 3.

)6, Georgetown Journal, Board of Aldermen, Vol. 2, 1805, p. 36 MSS [Hv,(LC)




Gecrpatown Jail on High (ldsconsin Ave,) Street below C, & U, Canal.
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In 1800, the population of George Town was 2,993§:
howavar, tha population of central Washington had mlreadyreached
3,2‘1{}..}*7 Although 1t was evident t¢ many that Georgetown would
eventually be overshadowed by the newly founded eity of Washington,
the old town of Osorge Town men fought a gallant battle. Well into
the 1830's, numerous Government officials and Diplomats preferred
to live in Ceorge Town rathar than 1n Washington Oity, Such
notables as Henry Clay and Johm Randolph olt succumbed to the jolly
atmogphere of the Unlon Taverm on Bridge Streat.. Other dignitariesz
enjoysd the Imposing manslons and quiet streets of the heights.

Alter ita glory as an lmportant international trade
aenter dlminished, George Town clung to its atmosphere of cordiality
and spcial prominence, which yet ramainas with this particular part
of the Nation's Capltal. Its tavernz and inns hed been the scens
of events which affeeted the planning and building of the Federal
Capital ﬁn the banks of the Fotomas, Its citlzens were foremcst
in working {fop the greater developmsnt of the community and Natlon.
They included ploneers in religion and educatlon, in trade and com-
marces, industry and sciencs, Cammon to all aof them was a devotion
to country. It was most appropriate that i1t was a resldent of
George Towm, Franciz Scott Key who wrota our lnasplring Natiomal

Anthem the "Star Spangled Banner."

L7, Census of 1500 Lor the District of Columbia, (NA}
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As a struggling village prier to 17uB, the area which
was to become Goorge Town had beem part ¢f Prince Georges County,
¥d, In 1748, it was included in Frederick County, and in 177%
Gegrge Town became part of Montgomery County when that county was
astablished. A few years later this historic city was included
within the area asleoted by Georga Washington for the Federal
Capital, Oeorge Town had been under the successive Juriadiction
of the King of CGreat Britain, the State of Maryland, and the United
States, As a town and city, 1t exdsted undsr an Independent charter
for 120 ;,rea.rs.ha This cherter was repealed in 1871, by an aet of
Congress which provided for a municipal Government with jurisdiction
aver the entire District of Gulumia..hg In 1895, Pfurther leglela-
tion provided that Georgetown should no longer be known in law &s
the City of George Town, but should rather constltute a part of

the city of Washington, the Federal Gapit.al.5 0

Modern Usorge
Town 18,0l course, officially a part of the Distrlet of Columbda,
However, many of us think more upan the past achlevements of the
1ittle town which (eorge Washington once called "the greatest
Tobacco center 1n the State of Maryland, if not the Natlian,"
Many of the nomea and haunts of thess great Americans who lived
in this town remain today and provide us with physlcal reminders

of a prond and glorlous past of American history.

LB, Taggart, op. Cibes Ps L120s
4?. Ibid,
50, Toid,
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Discovery of two orlginal bulldings in Od George Town
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Whils pursulng research work in comnectlon with the (14
Stone Houge in Georgetowm, it was discovered that twe orlginal
Cecrgatown bulldings of great historical significance are standing
today unknown snd unnotlced by the thousande of cltlzens who pass
them each day, Thesé structures are the original Clty Tavern and
Bank of Columbla bulldings of 0ld Georgetown.

This discovery was made during a title search of original
1ot 47 in Georgetown. Thia ordiginal lot, measuring 150 by 75 feat
waa [lrst purchased by George Gordon on March 24, 1752. In 1703
W1tiam Bayley acquired this let, which was located on the sauthwest
gorner of Falls and Weter Streabs in Georgetown (today M Street and
Wisconsin Avenus, N. W.), and proceeded to subdivide the lot into

1 4 1ater purchasar of geveral sesctions was

several sections,
Thomas J. Beatty of Georgetown., On February 29, 1796 the Bank of
Columbia purchased a part of lot 47 from Beatty,® This part of
lot |7 was the axact location on which the origlnal structura of
that venerable financial institution is located to this very day.
On April 20, 1799, Tho, J. Beatty deeded a part of lot h7
in Ceorpetown "whereon i3 the Tavern lately occupied by Clement
Sewsll and adjoining the Bank of Columbia," to Mr, Overton Ga.rr.3

The tavern referred to here is the original City Tavern bullding

1, Plgt of Lot L7 showing all subdivisions and changes in ownership
from 1752-1806 prepared according to and based on the original
deeds,

2, ILiber B, folio L15: Records of the District Title Co,

3. Liber D, folio 320: Records of the District Title Co,
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of Ceorgetown, wherein Clement Sewell had bean keeping his tavern
since the latter part of 1796.

Aftar collecting sufficient historical information on the
sites of the two above structurses from the original land Records of
Hontgemery County, the Disbriet of Columbia, and the RHecords of the
District Title Insurance Company, there was no doubt that the sites
of both the City Tavern and the Bank of Columbla were lecated on
eriginal lot h7. A preliminary visit to the site revealed that both
the second and thlrd bulldings west ol the southwest corner of
Wiscensin Avenue and M Street, N. W, locked very urusual, the third
building, especlally, appearing to be quite old.

Subsoquently, Mr, Hauasmann, Chief of the Architectural
Branch, oflered to accompany me to the site of the two bulldings in
guestlon for an examinatiom of thelr architectwrs, Thia inspectlon
was made an October 22, 1954, With respsct to the third bullding,
Mr, Haussmann stated that it was a very old bullding dating approxi-
mately from 1790-1800, He cbserved that the exterior of the original
flrat floor had besn replacsed, but that the exterior sseomd and third
Floors were original, Conatruction was of a Flemlsh Bond and closures
wore revealed at the windows. Thers was also an ornamsnted top date
ing [rom about 1815 on, Mr, Yzussmann wes interssted in the unusual
helght of the {first [loor, indicating that it must have been bullt
for a special uss, It seems logical now that thls speclal use wasa
for the maln floor of the Bank of Columbia, Thls old and architec-

turally signditicant bullding la new vacant with the exception of the
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first floor which is used to house Saniteticn wehicles of the
District of Columbla Covermment, An inspection of the Interior was
alse mads, revealing that the interlor had been radieally changed,.
On the third Moor a large hole in the celling allowing the sunlight,
rain and snow to enter unobstructed indicated that unless nsasures
are taken to preserve thiz bullding, its detericration wlll proceed
rapldly, On the outside Mr. Hausamanm paced off the dlatance from
the corner boundary to the esst corner of this bullding, These
measuremsnts, as I later substantiated from the original desd plving
this property to the Bank of Columbia in 1795, fitted exactly those
described In the deed,

Tha second building from the avrner proved to be even
more interesting. To the casurl cobserver, the [ront of the building
mlght appear to be in the late 1880'e or 90's, However, Mr, Haussmann
keenly observed that the bullding had been refaced and that actﬁally
it was & much older building, A walk around to the rear of the bulld-
ing substantiated this opinion, for there was revealed a completely
different {ype of construetion. The structurs is a three story brick
puilding with & common bond being used, Mr, Haugsmann believed that
1t was not gquite as old as the Bank of Columbia building adjoining
it to the wost, It was alse notleed fram this rear vlew that the
oripglnal three Floora and the oripingl wooden dormers appeared to |

be 1n tact, although in very poor conditicn. The architectural
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Anspection of this bullding, which 1s now used by a printing [irm,
proved that the bullding was constructed about 1800 or earlier., Since
then a careful study of the description of the tavern building (threae
story brick, stc.), and the measurements of the site according to the
original deeds, has proved beyond question that the original oiby
tavern and Second struoturs west of the gouthwest corner of Wisconsin
Avenue and M Street today are one and the same bullding,

The existence of theage two original buildings is apparently
unknown to residents and local historians of Georgetown, Thars is
now ample evidence to prove that both structures have a most important
historical significance not only to Georgetown locally but of National
importance, In sddition, if certain measurea are not takeapn to pro=-
tect and to preserve these structures, they will go the way of many

important hilstorical and architectural monuments of cur past,

Brief Hstorical Sketch

The Gity Tavern

The City Tavern, & three story brick bullding, was built
gometime in 1796, It was located on part of original lot L7 in
Georsetown adjolning the Bank of Columbia, In addition to the
Tavern bullding, there were large stables, a granary, kltchen end meat
housa, From its very beginning the City Tavern was one of the most
important mesting places of citlzens ol Georgetown and important
figures on the Natlonal sceme for both pleasure and business. The

first propristor was Clement Sewsll who operated the tavern until
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the early part of 1799. He waz followed at the City lavern by
Charlea McLaughlin who hald forth until 1801, to be succeeded by
Joseph Semmes, Oemmes opersted the City Tavern from 1601-1805
under the aign of the "Indlen King."

In thege early years of its history, the City Tavern waos
a pathering place which reflected the 1lfe and timas of the young
Capital on the Potomaz, Its rooms were often crowded with important
citizens and merchants of Georpetown and MWashington, stateamen and
even Presidents. Thomas Jelferson, who once sald “That no man on
the Atlantic coast could bring out a better bettle of Madelra or
Sherty wine than old John Suter ol Georgetown," later transferrad
his allegiance to the City Tavern and instructed important visitors
to the young Capital to find accommdations there, Numercus cele-
brations were held at tha Clty Tawern, ons of which was z grand
banquet and reception for President John idams, held on June 8,
1800, several months before he was to becams the first Fresident
to take up residence in the White House, The City Tavern bullding

was uged for tavern purposes until 1836.

The Bank of Columbla

The Bank of Columbla was chartersd by the Leglslature of
Maryland, December 28, 1723, under the name ol "The President,
Dirsctors and Company of the Bank of Columbia," The initia) stock
consisted of 10,000 shares of one hundred dollara each, Thia
financial institution had the distinction of being the I'irst Bank in

the District of Columbia. In 1796 the Iinstitutlon purchased part
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of original lot L7, where a spacious three siory brick building was
soon conetructed. The Bank remained on this site until 1805. In
that year a new home was built for the Bank on original lot 26 on
the north side of Bridge (M) Street, Most secondary accounts giva
thisfiitzais the original locatlon of the Bank of Columbia, totally
unaware that the original locatlian waa on lot L7 and alao that the
first Bank building dating from 1796 is stlll standing today at
321 M Street, N. W. During the first quarter of the nlneteenth
century this Bank was & pioneer financial institution of the young
Capltel, helping to finance many important private and municlpal
projects, Its patrons were those prominent in National affalrs as
well a8 local affeirs of the District of Columbia. In 1826, ita
failure created great excltement in the community. The United
States Government had on depasit with the Bank $L65,000, which was
lost in the wreckage, The Federal Government egtabllished its Indian
Trade Office in the Bank of Columbla bullding, Thls interesting

jnstitution, which carried on trade ralations between the Government

and Indlang, retained its office in this building as late as 1822,
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